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China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”; stock code:
2319) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “Mengniu”)
mainly manufacture and distribute quality dairy products in China. It is
one of the leading dairy product manufacturers in China, with
MENGNIU as its core brand. Mengniu’s diversified products include
liquid milk, ice cream, milk formula and other products such as
cheese. In 2020, Mengniu moved up to the eighth place on the
“Global Dairy Top 20” list published by Rabobank. By the end of
December 2020, the Group’s annual production capacity of dairy
products reached 9.90 million tons. In March 2014, Mengniu became
a Hang Seng Index constituent, making it the first blue chip Chinese
dairy product enterprise. In August 2020, Mengniu was included as a
constituent of the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index and the
Hang Seng ESG50 Index.
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HIGHLIGHTS
e

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

RMB Million RMB Million

For the Year Ended 31 December BE+-—A=+—-HLEFE ARBBEET NGRS

Revenue A 76,035 79,030

Gross Profit EF 28,629 29,679

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company N2 A%k A A FE(S FI 3,525 4,105

Net cash flows from operating activities BREXBEENFREMNE 5,348 6,307
Earnings per Share (RMB) BRAEM(AR®T)

— Basic —E K 0.897 1.049

— Diluted —¥s 0.892 1.046

During the year, the Group had successfully overcome the
challenges the COVID-19 Epidemic (the “Epidemic”)
brought. By grasping market opportunities as the Epidemic
eased, it was able to drive high quality growth of its
business. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
revenue of the Group amounted to RMB76,034.8 million
(2019: RMB79,029.9 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 3.8%. Excluding the revenue of Shijiazhuang
Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”), which was disposed
of in 2019, and of Bellamy’s Australia Limited (“Bellamy’s”),
which was acquired in 2019, the revenue of Comparable
Businesses (the “Comparable Businesses” in this report
excludes Junlebao and Bellamy’s) of the Group for the year
amounted to RMB75,003.1 million (2019: RMB67,817.3
million), representing a year-on-year increase of 10.6%.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
RMB3,525.0 million (2019: RMB4,105.4 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 14.1%. The decline
in profit was mainly due to the additional costs incurred
resulting from the following actions taken in the first quarter
of 2020: () the Group had incurred additional expenses on
epidemic prevention to safeguard the health and safety of its
employees, and to ensure the resumption of work and
production; (ii) the Group had incurred additional marketing
and sales expenses to reduce inventories in its distribution
channels in order to accelerate the resumption of normal
sales, and (i) the Group had actively fulfilled its corporate
social responsibilities and had made cash and dairy product
donations to more than 10,000 hospitals and relevant
epidemic control organizations.
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° Despite facing dire challenges of the Epidemic, Mengniu
managed to resume operation and production quickly, and
actively developed new retail channels, including
e-commerce platforms, 020 home delivery service,
community group purchase and WeChat social groups, to
speed up integration of on- and off-line sales networks. As
such, the Group’s business started to see a strong rebound
in the second quarter of 2020.

° To maintain the healthy and sustainable development of its
industrial chain, Mengniu accepted from ranchers all fresh
raw milk that passed quality checks during the Epidemic
and strengthened cooperation with upstream and
downstream business partners. The Group also donated
money and products to frontline healthcare and medical
personnel helping the fight against the Epidemic. Dairy
products were sent to major healthcare institutions in
Wuhan and across China. As a result, the good reputation
of Mengniu brand improved notably.

° During the year, Mengniu moved up two places to the eighth
place on the “Global Dairy Top 20” list. In addition, it was
selected as a constituent stock in the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Index (“HSSUS”). It is the only Chinese food
producer in the HSSUS.

REVENUE BY PRODUCT MIX
(FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER)
RMB Million
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in December 2019
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MAJOR AWARDS

AND ACHIEVEMENTS

THE GROUP AND ITS MANAGEMENT

Included in the “Global Dairy Top 20” list published by
Rabobank for the twelfth consecutive year and moved up
two places to rank eighth among global dairy companies

Selected as a constituent stock of the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Index (“HSSUS”) and the Hang Seng ESG 50
Index

Mr. Lu Minfang, our Chief Executive Officer, was appointed
as a member of the Executive Committee of Consumer
Products of World Economic Forum in Davos, being the first
Chinese member of the forum since its establishment.
Mr. Lu also served as the honorary vice president of China
Charity Federation and was awarded “Responsible Person of
the Year” by China News Service and The China News
Weekly

MENGNIU’S BRANDS

Ranked 31st among “Top 100 Most Valuable Chinese
Brands” selected by BrandzZ™

Ranked among Brand Finance Global 500 for the second
consecutive year

Ranked first runner-up of “Most Chosen Fast Moving
Consumer Goods Brands in China” again by Kantar
Worldpanel’s consumer research

On the China Brand Power Index (C-BPI) list published by
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the
PRC, Mengniu’s chilled yogurt held the championship in
China’s yogurt industry brand power for the tenth
consecutive year, while Yoyi C was honored as champion
of brand power in the probiotics drinks industry for the
fourth consecutive year. In addition, Mengniu was honored
as champion among ice-cream brands for the third
consecutive year and as champion among cheese stick
brands

In the 2020 NetkEase New Force Dairy Industry Summit,
Mengniu was honored as the “Most Influential Brand of the
Year”
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MAJOR AWARDS
AND ACHIEVEMENTS
EB BRI

MENGNIU’S PRODUCTS

Milk Deluxe won the gold product award conferred by
BIOFACH China for the eighth consecutive year

In the 2020 NetEase New Force Dairy Industry Summit, Milk
Deluxe was honored as “Excellent Product of the Year”

Reeborne, a brand of Yashili, was awarded “Innovative Infant
Dairy Product of the Year” by the Economic Observer

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Ranked first in terms of Dairy Corporate Social Responsibility
Development Index by the Corporate Social Responsibility
Research Center of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences

Won the 11th “China Charity Award” by the Ministry of Civil
Affairs

Won the “China Benefit Corporation Award” in the 2020
Corporate Social
Tencent News

Responsibility Selection organized by

It

=

it

+Em

Fm A @ B8 F BSBIOFACHEIR B H#E M
BESEMSE

Hm A 2020 H e B AL B miT%
EREFEBRER

i
i3

EAET R RIERER BB ER
MENFERIFFED R A an 58 -

281

EHELEMBRE IR O 2R
AmbEHEEEERERE %

ESRBAENSE T —EIREEHZE]

EB2020F EMMFECEL ST ETEN
[FEhEEAA ]



The “1-3-6” Program was awarded “Special Contribution for
Poverty Alleviation” of the year by The Paper

Mengniu’s poverty alleviation project was selected as “50
Best Corporate Targeted Poverty Alleviation Programs —
Integrated Program” and “50 Best Corporate Targeted
Poverty Alleviation Programs — Individual Program” by the
State Council Leading Group Office of Poverty Alleviation
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2020 was a very unusual year with the outbreak of the Covid-19
Epidemic (the “Epidemic”) sweeping across the world and to date
many countries are still struggling to cope. However, in China,
under the leadership of the central government and with
cooperation from the general public, efforts to prevent and control
the Epidemic have been successful. And, for Mengniu, working in
concert with its employees and business partners, it was able to
maintain quality and rapid development during the year.

Four years ago, Mengniu began its organization restructuring and
brand building with resolution, deployed its milk sources with
foresight and promoted its internationalization strategy steadfastly.
These initiatives have sent the Group onto a quality development
track. During the year, Mengniu moved up to the eighth place on
the “Global Dairy Top 20” list published by Rabobank. In addition,
it was selected as a constituent stock of the Hang Seng
Corporate Sustainability Index (“HSSUS”), recognized by the
capital market as one of the top 30 best-performing enterprises in
terms of sustainability. Mengniu is the only food producer in
China selected as a constituent of the HSSUS.
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CEO’S STATEMENT
R

-

During the year, the dairy industry recovered the fastest among all
consumption sectors and Mengniu led the recovery among all
dairy players. Its business started a V-shaped rebound in the
second quarter, followed by a growth in the second half of the
year which was faster and better than before the Epidemic hit.
Market share of its high-end room temperature products
continued to increase, claiming the top spot in the industry. Fresh
milk business maintained rapid growth of 100% as compared with
the previous year. Despite the overall adverse market conditions,
sales of cheese increased, in particular, retail sales revenue and
net profits recorded triple-digit growth, exceeding expectation.
The profit margin of ice cream business also improved
significantly thanks to the continuous upgrade of product mix and
stronger effort on developing sales channels.

To warrant the trust of consumers in China, Mengniu actively
shouldered its social responsibility in fighting the Epidemic.
Internally, Mengniu promptly activated its contingency plan and
established a team to coordinate Epidemic prevention work of
business units around the world and procure and produce
essential preventive supplies, including face masks. The Group
was able to resume operation and production quickly, with
employees’ health and product safety well in mind, to minimize
the impacts of the Epidemic on its business. Externally, Mengniu
donated money and products to frontline personnel fighting
against the Epidemic and also made a donation and set up an
emergency resources center in Wuhan. Moreover, Mengniu
accepted all fresh raw milk that passed quality check and offered
financial assistance to partnering ranches, helping upstream
operators to get through the difficult times.
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The outstanding performance of Mengniu owed much to its firm
execution of the following six major strategies:

Brand upgrade. The significant nutritional support given by
Mengniu to personnel in healthcare institutions, doctors and
nurses fighting against the Epidemic on the frontline had
boosted the brand power of Mengniu. In addition, due to
the success of marketing and product packaging that target
young consumers, the brand power of Mengniu has
improved among young people.

Channel execution. Mengniu furthered its route-to-market
(“RTM”) strategy, including strengthening distribution and
market penetration for liquid milk. Distributors were
empowered to participate in sales channel management for
higher efficiency. The distribution model of “Penetration into
Towns and Villages” was adopted in a number of provinces,
with the help of digital technology and the Internet. The
channel network welcomed more than 100,000 new sales
points in towns and villages during the year and the model
was promoted across the country. As for new retail sales
channels, in addition to enhancing cooperation with major
e-commerce operators, including Alibaba and JD.com,
Mengniu also developed its businesses through O20 home
delivery services, platforms for fresh food purchase and
community group purchase. During the Epidemic, Mengniu
sold its products via more than 100,000 WeChat social
groups to bolster business growth.
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CEO’S STATEMENT
R

Optimization of milk sources. During the year, Mengniu
stepped up its efforts in exploring milk sources in China and
overseas. Furthermore, Mengniu has become the largest
shareholder of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited, the
largest organic milk producer in China. Two associated
companies of Mengniu, namely China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. and Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International
Industrial (Group) Co., Ltd., have also improved operational
efficiency to meet the raw milk demand of Mengniu.

Efficiency enhancement. Mengniu adopted the consumer-
centric Design to Value (“DTV”) product design principle,
enabling it to introduce products that perfectly match the
demands of consumers. Efforts were also made to
streamline product ranges to bring out the true value of
products and reduce production costs, all conducive to the
healthy and sustainable development of Mengniu.

Digitalization. Mengniu has put in place a digitalization
strategy task force to coordinate digital transformation
across the Group. We aim to gradually build up a data-
driven business system, thus enabling efficient and prompt
decision-making regarding the Group’s operations.

Integration of acquired business. The operation and
corporate governance of Bellamy’s, the acquisition of which
was completed in December 2019, were fully integrated
with those of Mengniu. As a major member of the
international business division of Mengniu, Bellamy’s has
been with great strength expanding its organic product mix,
the sales network in Australia, cross border e-commerce
platform and offline sales channels in China. The business
integration has allowed Mengniu to provide organic infant
food and formula milk products that are of high quality, with
well-balanced nutrients and tasty.
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Today, the consumption pattern, industry structure and marketing
models in the milk industry have been changing continuously.
Against such backdrop, Mengniu also took its corporate culture to
the next level with the mission of “Every drop of nutrition makes
every life thrive” and the vision of “From the grasslands across
the world, Mengniu products nourish and are loved by over 2
billion consumers around the world”. To deliver its mission and
realize its vision, Mengniu has drawn up a five-year plan to
develop into a Mengniu beloved by consumers, a digitalized
Mengniu, an internationalized Mengniu, a Mengniu with strong
culture gene, and a Mengniu with strong sense of responsibility.
The fight against the Epidemic has ignited the sense of mission
and passion for life and work of the near 40,000 Mengniu
employees worldwide. In the next five years, the goal of Mengniu
is “To Create a New Mengniu by 2025”. The Group intends to
follow paths that are more rewarding and sustainable to realize its
long-term strategic goal, and to grow faster and reach further by
2025.

Jeffrey, Minfang LU
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021

Annual Report 2020 —ZE-ZFFF3§ 6
CEO’S STATEMENT

R E B

CHEBEERLESC TERRER
1t M‘éﬁ%ﬁﬁ%‘t%i“ﬂ: Z—‘t%ﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬂkjbﬁ
T SER_Z_TFAMEELRE - JATE
RER  EREBELW] RED - RIERF - i

R 2REER ER0EEEEIAER B
%aﬁ BiTEw FRERERS  XTCEHRERF
RE BEEAKERAEEEEEN  HEL
B~ BIFCH)  SUEEFEB AN - EARERD
EE EE@E’I%E’\J%%IHJEP EREONERRT
ARG HAEBHRERHEZNHEEL
WRAEM - RRAF  REBAIZZ-_HEF
BA—E#=+ ! IREFABRE BRR_FT=-1A
FoEBE—EEEEE EARKENS “‘Kﬁfﬁ

RHEEER ERKNELESER  £7
Eo

E &

k1

BB —E-—F=A=-t@HmA



IEEF3,

e
R TR U

& AELEE

T e T R







6 China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FES4 I 2GR QT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREFIRXAIR

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In early 2020, the dairy industry was inevitably affected by the
COVID-19 Epidemic (the “Epidemic”) temporarily. Indeed, during
the first quarter, all upstream and downstream sectors of the
dairy industry saw their operations affected. Following the
mitigation of the Epidemic in the second quarter, production and
supply within the dairy industry gradually returned to normal and
market demand began to recover, in particular the demand for
liquid milk. With the support and promotion from the Chinese
government and authoritative organizations, consumption of dairy
products increased as consumers began to have greater
awareness of nutrition and health, which became a driving factor
for the strong recovery and further development of the dairy
industry. On 8 February, 2020, the National Health Commission of
the PRC issued the “Nutrition and Dietary Advice on Prevention
and Recovery from Novel Coronavirus Infected Pneumonia” and
recommended that “moderate or recovering patients should
consume 300g of milk and dairy products per day (yogurt can be
consumed more as they provide intestinal probiotics)”. On
26 February, the National Association of Health Industry and
Enterprise Management, the Chinese Nutrition Society, the Dairy
Association of China and the China Dairy Industry Association
jointly published the “Guidelines on Consumption of Mik and
Dairy Products for Chinese People”, recommending the public to
consume 300g of liquid milk or other dairy products with protein
content equivalent to 300g of liquid milk to promote a healthy
diet, hence boosting the demand for dairy products.

In the wake of the Epidemic, consumers have become more
conscious of their health and immunity and have paid more
attention to food nutrient content and food quality, resulting in
higher popularity of products with low fat and sugar content as
well as high lactoferrin content. More consumers have opted for
dairy products to improve their health and prefer dairy products
which are healthy, nutritious, rich in protein and fresh. During the
year, there was strong demand for both high-end and affordable
pure milk due to different consumption preferences for
high-quality and value-for-money products, respectively. Demand
for functional dairy products and organic milk also increased,
which encouraged producers to develop innovative and high-end
dairy products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As for channel development, after the outbreak of the Epidemic in
the first half of 2020, urban families in China purchased
fast-moving consumer products through O20 home delivery,
which helped to offset the significant decrease in offline sales to
a certain extent. Although the Epidemic was less severe in the
second half of 2020, most consumers had already developed the
habit of online shopping. In preparation for changes in sales
channels after the Epidemic, Mengniu proactively explored new
e-commerce platforms, 020 home delivery services, community
sales and WeChat group sales during the year, in order to
expedite integration of online and offline marketing.

As production and sales in different areas were severely affected
by the Epidemic, Mengniu began the full implementation of the
Group’s digitalization strategy to continuously improve the
flexibility of the supply chain through digitalization. Mengniu also
promoted omni-channel development and the integration of online
and offline channels.

On 30 December 2020, the Chinese government issued the
“Action Plan for Improving Quality and Safety of Dairy Products”,
highlights of which included 1) promoting the use of new
technology and new production processes to create new
products as well as the use of fresh milk to produce dairy
products; 2) strengthening the research and development of dried
dairy products such as cheese and butter; 3) enhancing the
control of the whole production process of dairy products, such
as strengthening milk source management and increasing the
proportion of self-owned and self-controlled milk sources; 4)
promoting the establishment of food safety tracking systems; and
5) tightening the quality standards of dairy products and
improving safety and quality indicators and amending and
enhancing the “Administrative Measures on Product Formula
Registration of Infant Milkk Formula”. The new policies will increase
market entry barriers, which will be favorable to industry leaders
who own a high proportion of self-controlled milk sources with
high usage of fresh milk and provide high-quality standard
products.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Division Performance

Room Temperature Product Business

In 2020, benefiting from the increased awareness of health and
nutrition among consumers, the room temperature product
business division proactively adjusted its strategies in line with
market trends resulting from the Epidemic, and realized fast
growth during the year. Sales of Milk Deluxe and Mengniu pure
milk increased more rapidly, while sales of Just Yoghurt and
Zhenguoli  Fruit Milk Drink also increased thanks to the
introduction of new products. Moreover, despite that sales
channels were disrupted during the early stages of the Epidemic,
Mengniu continued with its route-to-market (“RTM”) strategy and
accelerated marketing digitalization and channel penetration in
towns and villages. Mengniu also promptly developed its new
sales channels, including 020 home delivery channels, online
fresh food shopping platforms and community group purchase
platforms, resulting in significant increases in market share and
penetration rate.

During the year, Milk Deluxe launched upgraded “DreamCap™”
organic pure milk and pure milk containing 3.8g of protein and
125 mg of original calcium per 100ml, further reinforcing the
premium position of the Milk Deluxe brand and stimulating its
sales. Mengniu pure milk introduced the Nutritious and Mellow
Enjoyment series in a tetra pack, which has been very well
received by families and young consumers, resulting in robust
sales growth. The Just Yoghurt brand, which innovated room
temperature yogurt with real fruit pulp, introduced the new
Xiaomanyao white peach and pomegranate flavored fruit yogurt
products in order to meet the different demands of young
consumers in respect of consumption scenario and flavor. The
Zhenguoli Fruit Milk Drink brand has developed floral and fruity
flavor light lactobacillus drinks, which are low-fat, slightly
fermented and subtly sweet and sour flavored. Emphasizing the
innovative combination of “flower + fruit + light lactobacillus
drink”, the series has been well received by consumer groups
such as urban white-collar workers and university students, and
has been sold out on multiple occasions on the e-commerce
platforms since its launch.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Regarding branding strategy, as consumers have become
increasingly aware of the importance of health and immunity
following the outbreak of the Epidemic and pure milk has been
more widely perceived as a “necessity”, Mengniu pure milk has
achieved significant sales volume growth during the year. By
enhancing its brand position and upgrading its product mix, the
operational efficiency of Mengniu pure milk has improved
substantially. Through in-depth analysis of consumer-related big
data, Milk Deluxe enhanced its digitalized interaction with
consumers which have different demands. Brand awareness and
sales volume increased following the promotion of the brand
through the sponsorship of highly popular Hunan TV programs,
including “Back to Field Season 4” and “Dance Smash”. During
the year, Just Yoghurt used a new brand positioning slogan of
“It's the real thing. It's Just Yoghurt.” and served as the title
sponsor of popular programs including “Produce Camp 2020”
and “The Chinese Restaurant Season 4”. The Just Yoghurt brand
also launched crossover products with fashion brand Moschino
for the first time, appealing to young consumers and using digital

marketing to position itself as a fashionable brand. The Zhenguoli

Fruit Milk Drink floral and fruity flavor light lactobacillus drink series
was successfully launched through the title sponsorship of “ldol
Producer 2” produced by iQiyi. Although sales channels were
disrupted during the Epidemic, sales of Zhenguoli Fruit Milk Drink
increased due to the introduction of premium products and efforts
to connect with young consumers through popular media
publicity.

As for channel strategy, following the outbreak of the Epidemic,
Mengniu’s room temperature product business distributed its
products through the in-depth cooperation between online and
offline channels. In addition to further development of traditional
e-commerce channels including Alibaba and JD.com, it promptly
deployed its sales channels, including 020 home delivery
services, fresh food shopping platforms and community group
purchase platforms. The distributors of the room temperature
products have all started using the “Smart Network” system,
which enables online management of store channels. Highly
efficient and meticulous channel management further enhanced
Mengniu’s point of sales control and monitoring of sales
expenses investment. Moreover, the “Penetration into Towns and
Villages Project” has progressed to version 2.0, which focuses on
“Exclusive Products, Exclusive Storekeepers, Exclusive Platforms
and Exclusive Partners”. Rural markets have been further
developed, such that the number of sales points and sales
volume have increased through the systematic and visible
management of salespersons and sales points.
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Chilled Product Business

In view of the changes in consumption trends, sales channels and
health awareness of consumers, Mengniu further promoted the
nutritional values of chilled yogurt and chilled lactobacillus and
developed new products and RTM channels. Sales of Mengniu’s
chilled products maintained the first in the industry for the 16th
consecutive year. Although the Group’s sales of chilled products
still outperformed others in the industry as a whole, revenue
recorded negative growth in 2020 as it was affected by the
Epidemic and intensified competition.

Throughout the year, Champion, the only yogurt awarded State
Food and Drug Administration’s health food certificate, was
continuously promoted to consumers, with an emphasis on the
functions of its probiotic content, through various activities
including a yogurt cultural festival, nutritionist recommendation
and live streaming of science lectures. Champion has also
launched the light and refresh chilled yogurt series, which
contains probiotics and prebiotics to improve intestinal health. In
addition, focusing on satisfying the demand for healthy, low-sugar
and low-fat products from Chinese consumers, the Yoyi C brand
has launched a low sugar and zero-fat formula product with white
peach oolong and grapefruit flavors. Yoyi C has also successfully
penetrated the youth consumer market with the help of a
collaboration with the mobile game Honor of the Kings.

After the outbreak of the Epidemic, offline purchase frequency
decreased significantly in line with the substantial decrease in
consumer flow. In response to the shift from offline consumption
channels to online, the chilled product business promptly
deployed new retail channels during the year, including the 020
home delivery services, fresh food shopping platforms, community
group purchases and live broadcast selling. By increasing the
number of points of sale, optimizing channel structure and
refining digitalized management, further penetration of the market
was achieved. The chilled product business also accelerated its
implementation of the “Smart Network” project in order to
improve the efficiency of channel operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Fresh Milk Business

In 2020, Mengniu’s fresh milk business developed robustly.
Through product innovation, stringent quality control, and
extension of the supply chain and sales network, revenue
doubled and market share also increased significantly.

Mengniu has focused on the promotion of Shiny Meadow and
Modern Meadow, two major brands of its fresh milk business.
During the year, Shiny Meadow, a premium brand, was promoted as
a new standard of high-quality fresh milk through a new combination
of media channels which strengthened communication with
consumers. The market position of Shiny Meadow as a leading
premium fresh milk product was further consolidated through the
introduction of new products: organic fresh milk from the desert and
Youhu A2B-casein fresh mik. Modern Meadow has adopted
innovative technologies to increase daily supply of T+0 milk products
significantly, so as to ensure the freshness of milk. The fresh milk
business division also achieved robust growth in market share
through continuous consumer education on fresh milk product
knowledge.

As for sales management, the fresh milk business focused on
RTM development. Through a sales model comprising both
distributors and direct sales, greater control over sales channels
has been achieved. Mengniu also strategically cooperated with
traditional e-commerce channels and O20 new retail channels. Its
sales of fresh milk products ranked first on the JD.com platform
in the June 18 Shopping Festival and November 11 Shopping
Festival. In addition, Mengniu further developed its convenience
store network for sales of fresh milk by establishing independent
sales counters and stores, facilitating quality and robust growth of
the fresh milk business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Milk formula business of Yashili

The milk formula business of Yashili International Holdings Limited
(“Yashili”, stock code: 1230.HK), in which Mengniu holds 51%
equity interest, recorded steady increase in sales, mainly due to (i)
expansion of the coverage of adult milk powder and nutrition
products on new functional products to shift focus to high-end
products while developing market segments; (i) optimization of
product structure of infant formula products, and the satisfactory
business growth after the rebranding; (iiij enhanced brand
exposure and credibility through a variety of advertising and
promotion efforts, which promoted online and offline sales volume
growth.

In 2020, Yashili continued to develop its business of two major
product lines, infant milk formula and nutritional products. In
respect of infant milk formula, Yashili upgraded the formula of all
existing product lines and introduced breast milk-like infant milk
formula products. In view of the demand of nutritional products
for enhancement of immunity during the Epidemic, Yashili
introduced various high-end functional milk powder. Reeborne, its
major infant milk formula brand, launched seven products under
the breast milk-like milk formula series, covering mainstream milk
formula, organic milk formula and goat milk formula. Yashili also
continued to upgrade its nutritional products and introduced
Mengniu Premium Gold, Platinum and Yourui series. Yashili also
introduced additional new products, including Topconic, the first
milk powder health product in China for immunity enhancement,
Nutriall milk powder, fruit oatmeal, M8 children’s growth milk
formula and skimmed milk powder.

During the vyear, Yashili continued to focused on the
mother-and-baby channels for infant milkk formula and the KA
modern trade channels for nutritional products. Yashili also
accelerated the development of e-commerce channels as well as
the development of new channels and new products. Home
delivery service has become part of the regular business
operation during the Epidemic. Yashili also strengthened its
cooperation with Alibaba, JD.com and other e-commerce
platforms and further developed new retails channels, such as
community group purchase and online social group purchase, to
boost the steady development of its business.
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Bellamy’s Business
Bellamy’s, an Australian organic infant milk formula and baby food

provider, was acquired by the Group at the end of 2019 and has
become a crucial member of Mengniu’s international business
division. Bellamy’s has adhered to the “Pursuing Organic,
Naturally Organic” brand positioning strategy and actively
expanded its portfolio of high-end organic products.

During the year, capitalizing on the reputation it has established
in online channels over the years, Bellamy’s continued to expand
its product lines and established offline channels in China in order
to develop distribution networks in first- to third-tier cities. In
March 2020, Bellamy’s launched its Chinese-labelled organic baby
rice and proactively increase its share in the high-end organic
supplementary food market. In May and June, Bellamy’s launched
the first super high-end organic A2 milk powder and Mim’s Gentle
Milk Co™ organic A2 goat milk powder in Australia, both of which
were also offered in China through cross-border e-commerce
platforms. The comprehensive deployment of organic infant milk
formula products within the high-end market segment has been
completed since then. The Chinese-labelled Bellamy’s organic
Equi-pure infant milk formula series was also launched through
offline channels in August.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Through the launch of the Bellamy’s organic Equi-pure infant milk
formula, Bellamy’s speedily deployed offline channels in China and
developed distribution networks covering first- to third-tier cities in
the country. As of the end of 2020, the products were sold in
nearly 3,000 offline stores in 13 provinces. During the period, the
performance of cross-border e-commerce channels was
outstanding and Bellamy’s ranked fifth for infant milk formula
products in terms of annual sales. The sales of infant rice also
increased substantially, and the brand ranked first for sales of
organic rice products on cross-border e-commerce channels.

Ice Cream Business

In 2020, the ice cream business primarily focused on rebranding
and product upgrades. Products were promoted through
online-offline coordination and multi-dimensional cooperation, in
order to improve brand awareness and maintain a steady growth
in sales.

Based on its bean-flavored ice cream products, Green Mood
co-branded with “Jiang Ziya” IP to launch two tea-flavored ice
cream products. The brand was advertised on TikTok,
Xiaohongshu and other platforms to promote its youthful image. In
cooperation with its ambassador Qi Wei, Deluxe rebranded itself
as a youthful brand. By launching innovative products such as
black pineapple fruit pulp milk ice cream and velvet yogurt milk
ice cream, Deluxe established its fresh milk ice cream product
positioning to target middle-class female customers. Suibian
engaged a number of new generation celebrities to promote its
brand. It also collaborated with the alcohol brand Jiangxiaobai
and launched “ice cream for adults”, creating a diverse and
trendy brand image which ultimately enhanced sales.

During the year, in addition to developing traditional channels and
modern trade channels, Mengniu also developed fresh food online
shopping channels such as Miss Fresh and 100.me, as well as
other new retail channels such as group purchase channels,
which led to the steady growth of ice cream sales.
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Cheese business

To capture the growth opportunities of the cheese market in
China, Mengniu and Arla Foods, which is the largest dairy
enterprise in Europe, co-founded £ /T/<#, a high-end cheese
brand, and cooperated in research and development, innovation,
brand promotion, channel operation and construction of factories.
By actively promoting product innovation and digital marketing,
deepening channel expansion, as well as enhancing traditional
e-commerce channels, £ &£#4 continued to raise brand
awareness and sales.

During the year, the Group actively developed new products,
including white sugar-free cheese desserts, brand new room
temperature squid flavored cheese snacks and the first made-in-
China liquid butter. £ fC/<# cheese engaged the world-renowned
pianist Lang Lang and his wife Gina Alice Redlinger as its global
brand ambassadors to promote its new brand image. Leveraging
digital and social platforms, the Group collaborated with Tmall and
JD.com to further engage with consumers. The Group also actively
increased its market presence in such segments as Chinese and
Western catering, baking and tea beverage, and hotels and airlines,
in order to further improve the penetration of its cheese products.

Quality Management

In 2020, Mengniu continued to implement its three-year quality
assurance plan alongside the adoption of the quality management
system 3.0. Mengniu also remained dedicated to promoting a
quality-oriented culture through the production of excellent
products for consumers and upholding its vision of becoming a
benchmark for milk producers worldwide, providing consumers
with safe and trusted products reflecting international standards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Utilizing quality sources of milk is essential for the production of
high-quality products. Mengniu has established a professional
range management system by introducing an advanced ranch
management system from Arla Garden and safety management
standards from AsureQuality of New Zealand. In addition, the
Group is committed to benchmarking against international and
domestic laws, regulations and standards relating to animal
rearing and breeding, along with observing 1SO9000 and
ISO22000 management system requirements. During the year, the
Group focused on the management of upstream suppliers,
veterinary drugs, animal welfare and the digitalization of ranch
management. The quality management systems used by ranches
were effectively improved, enhancing Mengniu’s cooperation with
upstream ranches. In 2020, the Group’s milk source bases
passed all random inspections by relevant government
departments for the seventh consecutive year.

In order to more strictly control the product quality of the entire
industry chain, Mengniu introduced advanced production facilities,
skills and technologies from around the world and adhered to the
food safety standards of Danone Group and Arla, two of the
world’s leading producers, and further developed quality and
safety management systems that are suitable for the dairy
industry in China. During the year, Mengniu continued to
implement the “Quality and Safety Management System 3.0” to
cover the entire cycle of procurement and supply. Quality
management activities pertaining to elements, systems, and
standards have been improved, ultimately providing consumers
with products and services of a higher quality.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

In 2020, Mengniu entered a new era of the 4Q quality
management system. In order to meet the demands of
consumers, the Group took a risk prevention approach to
introduce the 4Q quality management system, i.e. Quality
Planning, Quality Control, Quality Assurance and Quality Support,
according to international standards and practices. The system
has the characteristics of a 4Q quality pyramid model, adhering to
the principles of “consumer first” and “quality first”, and is driven
by culture, innovation and intelligentization. It encompasses all
business activities within the industry chain from suppliers to
consumers. The system forms the theoretical framework for the
Group’s excellent operation and quality management system,
which enhanced the Group’s three-tier management system,
covering corporate, business divisions and production facilities,
and provides guidelines for procedure standardization and quality
control practices for employees.

Milk Source Management

During the Epidemic that blighted the year 2020, Mengniu strived
to resume its operations and production. Five protective
measures were adopted, namely “Securing Procurement, Ensuring
Supply, Guaranteeing Delivery, Maintaining Sufficient Capital, and
Securing Operations”, with the aim of maintaining the confidence
of upstream suppliers and facilitating the stable operation of
Mengniu’s ranch partners and the normal operations of Mengniu’s
business. Mengniu ensured the stable pricing and timely supply of
production materials to cooperating ranches by collaboration with
the “Aiyangniu” platform. In addition, Mengniu worked with the
government, dairy associations and logistic partners to ensure the
seamless delivery of forage to and fresh milk from ranches,
safeguarding the interest of dairy farmers and accelerate the
recovery of the dairy industry as a whole.

During the year, Mengniu stepped up deploying milk sources in
China and overseas. New ranches and milk processing facilities
were set up in Inner Mongolia, Hebei, Henan, Shandong and
Heilongjiang. Furthermore, Mengniu has become the largest
shareholder of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited, the largest
organic milk producer in China. Two associated companies of
Mengniu, namely China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. and Inner
Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial (Group) Co., Ltd., have
also improved operational efficiency to meet the quality fresh raw
milk demand of Mengniu.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Moreover, Mengniu has continued its efforts to promote the three
major service platforms, namely “Digital Milk Sources and Smart
Ranches”, “Dairy Cattle Research Institute” and “Aiyangniu” and
make effective use of big data, 5G, block chain and other
technologies to achieve efficient, refined and intelligent milk source
management. During the year, Mengniu continued to carry out six
measures, including financial support, technological services,
scientific and standardized pricing, price determination through
contracts, and talent training, with the aim of establishing an
effective system to create mutual benefits between Mengniu and
the ranches. With this system, ranches were able to reduce
costs, enhance efficiency and optimize operational capabilities.

In order to support the development of milk source bases, the
Mengniu Milk Source Technical Support Center carried out a
special campaign, “Improvement of Output per Dairy Cow”, in
cooperation with the National Dairy Industry and Technology
System and China Agricultural University. As part of the initiatives
of this campaign, an expert team has been set up while 22
evaluation panels have been established with the introduction of
more than 20 industry experts from the dairy industry. These
teams aim to support ranches in improving the welfare of dairy
cattle and the output per dairy cow through on-site assessment,
exchange of information and discussion of problems. Furthermore,
Mengniu participated in the “Milk Source Base Construction
Project of China Dairy Industrial Park”, which conducted
groundbreaking ceremonies in Bayannur City, Tongliao City and
Hohhot City. The project aims to assist Inner Mongolia in
completing strategic deployment of the entire industrial chain,
covering “planting, rearing and processing” along the Yellow River
basin, Xiliao River basin and Nen River basin.

During the year, Mengniu stepped up disease prevention and
medication management efforts at ranches to ensure that the
management system of ranches remained professional and
sustainable. A dairy cattle welfare system was introduced to
improve cattle health, effectively reducing morbidity and mortality.
Also, based on the principle of “Scientific and Fewer Use of
Veterinary Drugs”, Mengniu ceased the use of veterinary drugs
which have safety risks and capitalized on the “Intelligent Ranch”
platform to ensure the tracing system for veterinary drugs to
reach a coverage of 100%, enabling supervision of the entire
process, ranging from the inventory taking and use of veterinary
drugs to medicated cattle isolation and post-isolation
management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

In 2020, with reference to advanced experiences and best
practices worldwide, Mengniu issued the “Promotion and
Implementation System for the Welfare of Dairy Cattle”, pursuant
to which a systemic guidance template of implementation
standards was provided for the entire industry chain of dairy
cattle rearing and breeding. Cattle welfare was carried out under
implementation, evaluation, improvement, and assessment. With
the completion of 650 ranch evaluations and the organization of
30 related training sessions, production capacity of dairy cattle
and brand influence were successfully enhanced.

Corporate Digital Strategy

In 2020, in view of the Epidemic, Mengniu upgraded its
operations through digitalization and establishment of an
information system that gradually leads to a data-driven business.
The system enabled the efficient and prompt decision-making
regarding the Group’s operations. Mengniu has established a
digitalization strategy management committee and a digitalization
strategy task force to work on four strategies, including
“Consumers Going Online”, “Channels Going Online”, “Supply
Chain Going Online” and“Management Going Online”, to form a
digital and intelligent management model on the basis of
operational platform and ecosystem. The sourcing of milk, quality
management, “Smart Network”, smart supply chain and consumer
management are operated under a digitalized system. Data from
the core business lines are collected, integrated and managed to
enable better operational decisions and efficiency.

In respect of “Consumers Going Online”, Mengniu made use of
consumer insights and value chain data analysis to consolidate its
quality media resources. Through analyzing consumer data and
various consumption scenarios and marketing the value of its
products, Mengniu provided guidance to consumers on healthy
and nutritional products consumption and ensured that its sales
and marketing accurately targeted potential customers and its
investment in resources was highly effective.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

With regard to “Channels Going Online”, Mengniu further
accelerated its efforts in RTM through its “Smart Network”
system. The Group has developed its own online tools, such as
“Niu Niu Hui” and “Qian Niu Hua”, to facilitate the market
penetration and display of products as well as the planning of
routes for channel visits. The empowerment and management of
channels have been further digitalized, visualized and refined. In
addition, the Group has enhanced its management of products,
channels and inventory. The entire channel management was
improved through the optimization of its logistics, warehousing
and distribution systems, and routing of transportation. The
effectiveness of sales & marketing expenses and logistics
expenses was also improved.

Regarding “Supply Chain Going Online”, Mengniu focused on
establishing “Digital Milk Sources and Smart Ranches”. The Group
proactively deployed its milk sources through the promotion of
automation and digitalization of upstream ranches, so as to
achieve mutual benefits with partners along the industrial chain.
Based on data collected over the years, Mengniu’s quality
management system is able to identify, anticipate and alert any
quality issues to ensure that consumers are provided with
products of the highest quality.

As for “Management Going Online”, Mengniu has further
enhanced the comprehensive management of consumers,
digitalization of its industrial chain and synergy within its
ecosystem. The Group has continued to accelerate digitalization
of its operations and empower the upstream and downstream
partners along the industrial chain. Mengniu’s objective is to
enhance its capability to swiftly serve and respond to the needs
of consumers, provide business insights in all aspects based on
data collected, as well as improve cost effectiveness, efficiency
and product quality for high quality development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2019, the Group had made a disposal of its subsidiary,
Junlebao, and thus consolidating its financial result only up to
November 2019; in addition, the Group had made an acquisition
of Bellamy’s and has consolidated its financial result since
December 2019. Moreover, there were several one-off financial
impacts in 2019, which included the recognization of a pretax
gain on disposal of Junlebao of RMB3,331.8 million, income tax
expense for the gain on disposal of Junlebao of RMB533.3
million, and provision for impairment of goodwill and other
intangible assets of RMB2,559.9 million. In 2020, because of the
outbreak of the Epidemic, during the first quarter the Group had
taken several actions that incurred additional cost, resulting in a
decrease in profit, namely () additional expenses incurred for
epidemic prevention and control to safeguard the health and
safety of workers and to resume normal work and production; (i)
additional sales and promotion expenses incurred for the Group
to reduce its channel inventories as soon as possible; and (i)
donation of cash and dairy products to actively fulfill the Group’s
social responsibilities. Because of the above mentioned factors,
the financial performance of 2020 and 2019 might not be directly
comparable. In order for shareholders and investors to better
understand the financial performance of the Group in 2020,
certain financial data might exclude the factors mentioned above
for analysis.

Revenue

The revenue of the Group amounted to RMB76,034.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB79,029.9 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 3.8%.

During 2020, Bellamy’s contributed RMB1,031.7 million (2019:
RMB88.2 million) to the Group’s revenue while in 2019, Junlebao
contributed RMB11,124.4 million to the Group’s revenue in that
year. Excluding the business revenue of Junlebao which was
disposed of in 2019, and that of Bellamy’s which was acquired in
December 2019, the Group’s revenue from Comparable
Businesses amounted to RMB75,003.1 million (2019:
RMB67,817.3 million), representing an increase of 10.6%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross Profit

The Group’s gross profit for the year decreased to RMB28,629.3
million (2019: RMB29,678.6 million). Despite the increase in the
price of raw milk as compared with the previous year, with a
notably optimized product mix, the Group’s gross profit margin
increased slightly by 0.1 percentage point to 37.7% as compared
with the previous year (2019: 37.6%).

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses of the Group for the year decreased to
RMB26,617.6 million (2019: RMB28,809.7 million), representing
35.0% when expressed as a percentage of the Group’s revenue
(2019: 36.5%). In 2019, operating expenses included provision for
impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets which
amounted to RMB2,559.9 million, if excluding provision for
impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets, the operating
expenses represented 33.2% when expressed as a percentage of
the Group’s revenue. Taking this into comparison, operating
expenses expressed as a percentage of the Group’s revenue
increased by 1.8 percentage points. The increase was mainly
attributable to the measures adopted by the Group in the first
quarter of 2020 that resulted in an increase in extra costs,
including (i) additional expenses by the Group for epidemic
prevention and control to safeguard the health and safety of
workers and to resume normal work and production; (i) additional
sales and promotional expenses by the Group to reduce its
channel inventories as soon as possible; and (i) donations of
cash and products to actively fulfil the Group’s social
responsibilities.

Selling and distribution expenses for the year amounted to
RMB21,540.9 million (2019: RMB21,536.1 million), representing
28.3% when expressed as a percentage of the Group’s revenue
(2019: 27.3%), an increase of 1 percentage point in 2020
compared to that of 2019.

Advertising and promotion expenses for the year decreased by
20.0% to RMBG6,803.1 million (2019: RMB8,499.9 million),
representing a decrease to 8.9% when expressed as a
percentage of the Group’s revenue (2019: 10.8%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Administrative and other operating expenses, including impairment
losses on financial and contract assets and loss on disposal of
financial assets measured at amortized cost, decreased by 30.2%
to RMB5,076.7 million (2019: RMB7,273.7 million), accounting for
6.7% (2019: 9.2%) of the Group’s revenue. As mentioned above,
if the provision for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets of
RMB2,559.9 million was excluded, administrative and other
operating expenses when expressed as a percentage of the
Group’s revenue should be 6.0% in 2019. Taking this into
comparison, there was an increase of 0.7 percentage points in
2020 compared to that of 2019. The increase was mainly due to
the active donation of cash and dairy products during the
Epidemic.

Profit from Operating Activities and Net Profit

During the year, the Group’s earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) decreased by 22.0% to
RMB5,779.3 million (2019: RMB7,404.8 million) and EBITDA
margin was 7.6% (2019: 9.4%). The decrease was mainly due to
a gain arising from disposal of Junlebao of RMB3,331.8 million
and provision for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets of
RMB2,559.9 million, resulting in a net gain of RMB771.9 million
recorded in 2019, and an increase in operating expenses in 2020
as mentioned above.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company decreased by
14.1% to RMB3,525.0 million (2019: RMB4,105.4 million). Basic
earnings per share decreased by 14.5% to RMBO0.897 (2019:
RMB1.049).

Income Tax Expenses

In 2020, the Group’s income tax expenses amounted to
RMB653.2 million (2019: RMB1,309.5 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 50.1%, primarily due to the income tax
expenses of RMB533.3 million on gain arising from the disposal
of Junlebao, a subsidiary of the Company in 2019. The effective
income tax rate was 15.7% (2019: 23.4%), down by 7.7
percentage points year-on-year, mainly due to the impairment of
goodwill and impairment of other intangible assets included in the
previous year which were non-deductible items.

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s capital
expenditure amounted to RMB6,116.2 million (2019:
RMB11,532.3 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of
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47.0%. RMB4,414.3 million was spent on building new
production facilities and modifying existing ones and related
investments, while RMB1,701.9 million was invested in equities.

Working Capital, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded net
cash inflow from operating activities of RMB5,347.7 million (2019:
RMB6,307.2 million), representing a decrease of 15.2% when
compared with the previous year.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s outstanding
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings decreased to
RMB18,944.3 million (31 December 2019: RMB23,472.8 million),
of which interest-bearing bank and other borrowings repayable
within one year amounted to RMB4,924.4 million (31 December
2019: RMB13,838.2 million). More than 90% of the
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were bearing interest
at fixed rates.

Net borrowings (total amount of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings net of cash and bank balances) of the Group as at
31 December 2020 amounted to RMB7,547.2 million
(81 December 2019: RMB16,996.6 million).

The total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2020
amounted to RMB37,247.6 million (31 December 2019:
RMB33,347.3 million). The debt-to-equity ratio (total amount of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings over total equity) of
the Group was 50.9% (31 December 2019: 70.4%).

Finance costs of the Group for the year were RMB572.3 million
(2019: RMB644.2 million), or approximately 0.8% when expressed
as a percentage of revenue (2019: 0.8%).

PRODUCTS

Leveraging its advantage in resources and globally advanced
technologies, Mengniu focused on product differentiation and
premiumization, which in turn drive further sales volume growth
and industry leadership underpinned by superior products. During
the year, Mengniu adopted a consumer-oriented production
development concept of DTV (Design to Value) to introduce
products that perfectly meet the demands of consumers. The
Group’s product lines had been streamlined to reveal the value of
its products for the sustainable development of Mengniu.
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@ China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited PEE4AEER LA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREFIRZAIR

The principal businesses of the Group are liquid milk, ice cream,
milk formula and other products with their performance during the

year outlined as below:

Product category

Financial performance

E & m MBRR

B

AEBEE2EBD RBEY - AEMK - i RE
fEm  FARKRMOT

Highlights

Revenue amounted to RMB67,751.0 million (2019: RMB67,877.8 million), accounting for 89.1% of

WABAREET7510B T (Z2—NE - ARK678.7781ET) - (ERFBUAKIBI1% (ZT—NF:

The Mik Deluxe 3.0 era began following the launch of its

Liquid Milk

R EE T Mengniu’s total revenue (2019: 85.9%).
85.9%) °

UHT Milk =

UHTZ

products in upgraded “DreamCap™” packaging in 2019. In
May and June 2020, upgraded organic pure milk and pure
milk of “DreamCap™” packaging containing 3.8 g of natural
high quality milk protein and 125 mg of natural calcium per
100 ml have been launched. In satisfying health needs of
consumers, the organic pure milk has been awarded dual
certifications for organic products from China and the
European Union. Such achievements further reinforced the
premium position of the Milk Deluxe brand.

KRR T NFRE(ZDEIARBRER  AREFHH
BORM - ZE-FERAZENA - BUERIFELH100=
AEBI8RARBEIELD  1252ZR K ARBOA FREFR
HFREBRBFNRAmHFRT DM AR Fmif ARSI
BPEEREARERE URBHEENRERK #—8
B [E 7 A 1) = o AL

Mengniu’s comprehensive UHT pure milk line includes Mengniu
pure milk, high-calcium milk, low-fat high-calcium milk and
skimmed milk. In August 2020, Mengniu’s Nutritious and
Mellow Enjoyment pure milk series was introduced. The
product contains 3.3 g of protein per 100 ml and has a very
rich taste.

SHEUHTHA D BREFF Y -
WENEER —T-FTFN\A -
m - B100EAEHI3REAE -

=I5 KB 85 MRS
REmERNBEZRIDE
ARERER

Key Products:

Milk Deluxe
Mengniu pure milk
Student’s Milk
Future Star

BHEmM:

¥
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRESRZAIR

Highlights

B

Product category Financial performance
EmmE BERA

Room Temperature Yogurt

BB

Room Temperature Milk Beverage

EHAKH

—  Just Yoghurt’s light flavor yogurt with fruit introduced a
new Xiaomanyao white peach and pomegranate flavored
product in April 2020. With pure raw milk, imported
Danish lactobacillus and refreshing imported
pomegranate juice and peach pulp, the sugar content of
this product is 31% less.

— AZRNEIRRAKRBRDR T _SFNAHKLEKEE
FRE)NEIER R RAMIIEAEST EONEIBRER
B ERSEDFRIHART REKRA - BRRERD 31% °

Key Products:
—  Just Yogurt light flavor yogurt
—  Just Yogurt light flavor yogurt with fruit

BEHEM:
-  AEEIEEKELD
— AHRNEIERERKEY)

—  During the year, Fruit Milk Drink developed the first series
of floral and fruity flavor light lactobacillus drink and
launched the sakura and white peach flavor as well as
the rose and strawberry flavor in January 2020. The
series emphasizes the innovative pairings of “flower +
fruit + light lactobacillus drink” made with low-fat
lactobacillus.

—  FR - BERHRNFNRGFART ERIEREAIIBRER
mAEY] - R—AREBIEAMBBRESERK AR - ZFH
PIEMETERER (7€ + R + B2 WaFEASE - KAK
Pafn P BB BB -

—  Fruit Milk Drink’s high-end colorful fruit pulp series
contains various combination of fruit pulp. It introduced
the new “mango + passion fruit” and “peach +
raspberry” series during the year.

—  ERHSWHBHRNEDNRMEAY] EITEERNES R
FABEEHTEREERMNABERZRFE®

Key Products:

—  Fruit Milk Drink

—  Fruit Milk Drink high-end colorful fruit pulp series

—  Fruit Milk Drink floral and fruity flavor light lactobacillus
drink series

EHEM:

—  ERATIRS

—  ERNSWEHRNTNRGAES
— ERAEREIIBEE R RS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREFIRZAIR

Product category

Financial performance

Highlights

Emmi MBRE B

Chilled Yogurt —
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Champion introduced a new product series in PET bottle
in May 2020. The product is produced from 100% raw
milk with BB-12 probiotics and prebiotics. Besides, the
“Champion Yogurt Approved Health Food” series which
holds the blue cap is the only yogurt certified by the
Chinese government as a health food in China. The
product contains BB-12, a very active Bifidobacterium
which can effectively regulate the bacteria population in
the digestive system, from Denmark. The Champion zero
sucrose yogurt series contains no cane sugar, no
artificial sweeteners and no preservative.
BadR_Z_ZFRAABEE2FPETRRIER -
100% £ 2L 3B - SBB1I2aEREIR=ETT - B &
wmA/NERIMEFR ] RINERERBAR ——FESH
KRBRMAZFNERLY - BUETEBB- 128 B2 H - H#&
B ARG ERE o B 7L OREHE R 5 B EFTORE
W&~ OATEHERAE] - OB R A o

The Activia product series is positioned as a high-end
yogurt, with the main features of being a French-style
meal replacement and fruit yogurt. Danone Activia
Smoothie Francais, the first “light meal bottled yogurt”,
was introduced in late 2019. The product contains
imported fruit pulp with low sucrose content of less than
0.5%, which suits the demand of consumers seeking
“controlled sweetness”.

EERZINEREMSHENTE  TITEARERRER

Be R-Z-NFEETEEHERERM] — =8
EBHEEARRE BEEOKRRE ERFEESED

K0.5%  m R [ZEHIATHERRRHFR -

Key Products:

B

Champion

Mengniu Danish Cheese Flavor Yogurt
Mengniu China Nourishing Nuanyan Yogurt
Activia
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EREREXAIR
Chilled Milk Beverage —  Yoyi C LC-37 series launched a new low-sugar product
168 7 EL #Y of original flavor in April 2020. Each bottle of the

product contains 50 billion active probiotics, zero fat,

low sugar as well as high calcium and vitamin D.

Enough number of probiotics can remain active to

. . > effectively regulate the condition of the digestive system

MR L even with the presence of gastric acid and bile and
under the body temperature of 37C.

e —  EZC@mMALC-37 RFIfE =T = TF P A H R R
SOOZENCET) | SO0EEMIELT
—— — ﬂuu ‘!/J\HE'AYSOO{U EE AR TK)EHOHEHE {EHE -
e RS mf%l]ﬁ&i%DE’JHEH S B E’*%DHJ*#E’JE&EE DER
HEE N ERE IJLH@-J ST TEIRIRE TN G IR
‘M" ‘ﬂtﬂt' i M BTG B
- \ LC-37 Key Products:
= Yoyi C
—  Yoyi C LC-37
E%Euu :
EBzmC
—  #zC LC-37
Fresh Milk —  Mengniu’s Shiny Meadow fresh milk was introduced as
BT a premium brand. It is produced using low-temperature

membrane concentration technology and Swedish milk
fat separation technology, enabling it to retain the
highest proportion of natural nutrients in quality fresh
milk. In the first half of 2020, the Shiny Meadow organic

[ fresh milk was launched, which is produced using pure
milk that has been awarded dual certifications for
i organic standards from China and the European Union

and is originated from desert. The milk contains 3.6 g
protein and 120 mg original calcium per 100 ml. In
December, Shiny Meadow launched the Youhu
A2 3 -casein fresh milk from selected ranches with GAP+

i cinr s e Fio certification. The product meets the demand for A2
'52'._1] 8RR B fresh milk of toddlers changing from drinking formula

i ; N i' il ﬁ . i@ ?E;" milk to drinking fresh milk, which helped to consolidate
- — o -;Y' the brand’s leading position in the high-end fresh milk

market. Modern Meadow has released a brand new
carton package in the first half of 2020.
— 4t emnMEAEZESD  RARKARERER

Jw-'-& T FNER ERZLAE D BRI - RALIRBEEEHPRALE -
e - BHHEZE_ZT_FF P FHERBEHESD - RARE
| ERRBRERE  REDENMFYIR - T100mIEF4
PE3.60EAEMI20mgRERIE - FHHZENRN T+ =
a4y (ol = A H RGAP— MR EH FBBIG L ENEEA2 S -BE
:§;ﬁ$ L) = e \ [ B DR R - o S 40 3 ADRE CE IR SRR TR
"g" . & ZESIHENTISBEEMA - BAUNSHFNRAE_F
tI: = — SEE RO ABEEOES -
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¥ Key Products:
ﬂﬂ.ﬁ‘@ ﬁiﬂi;ﬂ ,qi;m i —  Shiny Meadow fresh milk
i *sa H —  Shiny Meadow cold brew café latte
—  Moaern Meadow fresh milk
EHEM:
—  HFHEZEESD

— HHEZLEHNEEE
—  HARHGETY
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

Ice Cream

KB

Revenue from the ice cream business amounted to
RMB2,633.7 million (2019: RMB2,561.4 million),
accounting for 3.5% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2019:
3.2%).

WA BARE26.337EIT(ZE—
TL)  IERFBIRARNG.5% (ZF —

NE: AR¥E2561418
NE 82%) °

Suibian ice cream has collaborated with the liquor brand
Jiangxiaobai in launching “lce Cream for Adults”, which,
targeted specifically at young consumers and pushed
produot sales.

BEZ M BT /) FB R B R A1 - HEH [ R ARZH) KR
Ml BEEMFE LSRR PHIERFE -

The premium ice cream brand Deluxe has launched velvet
yogurt milk ice cream and pineapple milk ice cream in
February 2020. The former is made from mellow milk
and is blended with delicious yogurt. The latter contains
pineapple pulp and well-selected ingredients that are
covered in an elegant black coating
SmACERmEFHEZTN _ T _TF H HHSAIL
@%tliiz}}uk/ﬁ\/ﬁﬂﬂﬁiim*”%WﬁFﬁ)}ﬂk;ﬁ\/ﬂk ERILEEF I
AEMKAEEFNRMAZRIAAR  AOKRMEERS B

BARRALDAEMRABRERCRBICBR - BHE
Jﬁ’ B -

Green Mood has launched two innovative products in
January 2020 that feature popular drink flavors, namely
red bubble tea flavor ice-cream and cheese and matcha
flavor ice-cream. Ingredients such as large natural
tapioca pearls and smooth red tea, and rich cheese and
refreshing matcha, are used in these products,
respectively.

RECENR T _TF— AL MREIFmIT R &R HK

Key Products:

Em BREEPHRAXRNSZETHREZOKRER BRI XAK
BEERMBBAL ARREZ MBS

Suibian

Deluxe

Green Mood

Mengniu Ice +
Mengniu Russian style pure taste milk ice cream

E%Euu 5
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

Revenue from the milk formula business amounted to RMB4,573.0 million (2019: RMB7,869.7 million),
accounting for 6.0% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2019: 10.0%). The revenue of Milk Formula business
mainly included the revenue from Yashili and Bellamy’s.

WARBARE4T0RT(ZE—NEF : ARBT8697RT)  MEFBRARNGC0%(ZT—NEF:
10.0%) - IMEBUA T EBERBE RN R BRI KEBHKRA -
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In 2020, Yashili reshaped the brand proposition of
Reeborne with the launch of Reeborne “Breast Milk-like”
milk formula series. As the core product series for the
year and the future, it is characterized by a lighter flavor
and more nutritious ingredients. To cater for different
needs of its target customers, the brand launched seven
new products in the “Breast Milk-like” powder series,
covering mainstream cow milkk powder, organic milk
powder and goat milk powder.

2020%F - T+ F MR 37 2 0 & B b8 oK - B I I 0B R R
AW RINER - VERRNFREDERKRZOITENE M
Ry ZERUAEBANOKEEZEEXD B -
FUETRFTRONBERTS  RAMMREINFTHm - B
EFRFDH  BRDHARAD mBEFTH -

By adopting advanced MSD drying technology, Reeborne
Kieember series is able to retain the active nutrients of
its ingredients. With double premium protein, patented
OPO structured lipid and highly active CPP and
prebiotics that are in the golden ratio, the product
provides babies with all kinds of nutrition that can be
easily absorbed. Reeborne Qinyou organic milk powder
adopts the pure organic milk from free-range dairy cows
that are grass-fed for 300 days on seven-year clean soil
farms in Alps, in a way to provide milk powder with
protein content of up to 20% for babies and toddlers. It
passes the WIT organic certification and adopts the
“One Can, One Code” tracking system to provide quality
assurance. Reeborne TruYn goat milk powder selects
high-quality small molecule goat milk protein and
specifically adds rare ingredients such as lactoferrin, the
body-friendly OPO structured lipid and probiotics and
prebiotics to ensure easy digestion and good absorption
for babies. Also available in Reeborne “Breast Milk-like”
milk formula series are products of different pricing and
nutrient contents that address different nutritional needs
of babies and toddlers.

I EERT DM IA SR EMSDE G TE - REEEX D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR
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Arla, the world’s largest organic dairy producer with over
100 years of brand history, is an authorized purveyor of
dairy products to the Danish royal family due to its high
quality. The organic milk formula of Arla Baby & Me has
obtained three major organic certifications and contains
high DHA and ARA, prebiotics that are in the golden
ratio, and organic whole lactose. As for Arla Baby & Me
Lanxi, it contains the unique NutriCollab formula
featuring premium nutrients such as choline, taurine and
nucleotide. In addition, the newly upgraded formula of
Arla Milex is a Pro Plus nutrition formula that contains
OPO structured lipid, BB-12 probiotics, and prebiotics in
the golden ratio, hence is able to satisfy those seeking
natural products.
ArlaEEBFmERESL - ERIREANBHKILME - mid
IREEREERERNEESEMAME - ArlaE A K
BHRIMEFIRNARRE - 2=mDHATIARA - & LAl
mET  FREREINE AaE A HEEE =B BEN
NutriCollab & B R4 - FINfEm - 4+l  REkS
BEEEBILE ¢ ArlaZk 712 5 7 R BL 77 LAOPO#E 1 g
BB-12z 4 E - methfla 47T - AR Pro PlusfE 24 ik
RECL  BEEBATR -

Yashili’'s nutritional products include various milk formula
products for adults. Apart from the golden series and
standard series of Mengniu brand adult milk formula,
Youyi brand adult milk formula and Zhengwei brand
oatmeal, Yashili continues to launch upgraded and
innovative products, such as the Mengniu ultra-gold
series and platinum series and Yourui series adult milk
formula. Moreover, new products were introduced during
the year, including Topconic milk powder, Nutriall milk
formula, fruit oatmeal, M8 children’s growth milk formula
and skimmed milk formula. The following is the
introduction of the key new products:
BEIANREREERBPESBEADNY  BRTEFmiE
TERRIKADN REBERIKADY - F12 R 5K
AT R IEBREE 7 DASI » B FI S B 1T G A AR B A
OB TRFBERRY  REHSERY KRR
BB AGID o b TR M EFABELFTRBERE
BEEDY - BEEDH  KRER  MBREX KA
T RBIEDNE - LT AERFTREERHNA

Topconic milk powder, the first healthcare milk powder
in China for boosting the immune system, is a high-end
series that principally aims to enhance the immunity of
consumer groups that have weaker immune system.
Topconic milk powder mainly contains Bifidobacterium,
Lactobacillus acidophilus and Xylooligosaccharides to
strengthen the immune system of consumers.

HRIDBREHRTIER - NIEREE N RZOEE
FTEEARENETHRERE EPREERRE IR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRESRZAIR

Highlights
B

NUTRIALE
g

Nutriall milk formula is an imported milk powder suitable for
the whole family. Using the milk source from New Zealand
that is certified with the New Zealand FernMark, the formula
meets various nutritional needs of the whole family, such as
calcium, protein, vitamins, soy lecithin and linoleic acid.

AT E—REAEFOEEENEQNY - KAMERD
R-BEEFERBRRERE Khkmxt EAE 44
= AUUBHE  HBRESZELENS  MEEREET K -

M8 children’s growth milk formula focuses on the positioning
of “promoting digestion and absorption” and the selling-point
of “improving appetite”. Specially added with Bifidobacterium
lactis, Probio-M8, it can facilitate nutrient absorption, and
regulate and strengthen the condition of the digestive system.
The formula is also specially enhanced with a variety of
nutrients, including FOS, GOS, PS, DHA, ARA, lactoferrin,
N-acetylneuraminic acid, zeaxanthin and lutein. Rich in calcium
and vitamin D, it is an effective formula that supports the
growth of children.

M8 ER R AL T I B4 [ e B L R VB R [ E T E
IZER | B EE cn B B - FF R N 7L B. & I 2 B Probio-M8 - B B) &
BRW - BnBERE  RATRESN - ZREBRARICET
B RIYRINFOS ~ GOS ~ PS * DHA * ARA » 3L & H + N-Z i 48
KAk FRkEE EFR SSENMEEERD BERHE
BhEFRE -

Fruit oatmeal is a product targeting young female consumers
aged between 18 and 35. Featuring various ingredients such
as dried fruit, nuts, milk and rose petals, this product is rich in
dietary fiber with low calorie and no added sugar.
KRERR—RET18-BRFELMERPHNER ° ESAIN
KRe - BR 43 HREBESZ KNS BRERE B2
R -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Product category Financial performance Highlights

EmmE MBRE B

Bellamy’s = Bellamy’s launched the Chinese-labelled organic baby

Bk rice series, which is directly canned in and imported
from Australia, in March 2020. It also launched the first
super high-end organic A2 milk formula as well as super
high-end Mim’s Gentle Milk Co™ organic goat milk
formula in Australia from May to June. The super
high-end organic A2 milk formula series is made from
1% rare organic milk source, and contains BB-12 active
probiotics, algae oil DHA and lutein. The super high-end
Mim’s Gentle Milk Co™ organic goat milk formula series,
being awarded Australia dual organic certifications,
contains 100% pure goat milk protein, D-Geni-X™
probiotics and prebiotics, and over 20 types of nutrients
and a full lactose formula.

- BAURRZZ_ZTF=AREPRXIRBERIERMR
EEOBRETRY YR AZENAERMN ETEKE
= ih B ®REEA2T DTS m BRI FHEFET
HBomBRADH RINEBIERERDNIR 248
BB-12)& M s AER - R MDHARE SRR - BamBEED
MAEINERERNEEGHRT  SH100%4FFEL -
D-Geni-XMa A W Ras T M 205 B E B R 2B °

—— R
BELLAMYS
OQROANIC

= In August 2020, Bellamy’s launched the Chinese-labelled
organic Equi-pure infant milk formula with the addition of
nucleotide. The product contains six major nutrients,
namely DHA, ARA, choline, taurine, inositol and
L-carnitine. In addition, the product has new ingredients
of organic GOS/FOS, a combination of prebiotics, which
can enhance the protection function of the micro
ecosystem of the intestines of infants. Bellamy’s also
sells other supplementary foods for infants, including
organic dried fruits and organic puree.

- ZEZZFN\R - BRAKBHELEPXIRBENEREK
BB T3 0 #5Nucleotide X H BT A B NES T - A
EDHA - ARA - g - FHEEE - ULEE - THEABIE KR L&
T FILEMGOS/FOSE Em A AE F ATEHENT
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EEMBNRHERRNARZRRARRES -
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Key Products:

—  Reeborne

—  Arla Baby and Me

—  Bellamy’s organic milk powder
—  Bellamy’s organic baby rice

BEM:
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— BHCKAERDH
— BHCKAKKH



Other Products
HitEm

Cheese

75 %

Annual Report 2020 —ZE-ZFFF3§ 6

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

Revenue from other products amounted to RMB1,077.1 million (2019: RMB721.0 million), accounting
for 1.4% of Mengniu’s total revenue (2019: 0.9%).
WARARBIOITEBL(ZE-AF: ARE72108T) - AEFLBKRANI4%(ZT—NEF:

During the year, the cheese business division of Mengniu
launched E A E# brand, covering cheese products
including kid’s cheese, leisure cheese, cheese to go with
meals and high-end cheese. Furthermore, the premium
cheese brand Castello and liquid butter brand Lurpak
were launched, thereby covering all consumption
scenarios. £ =4 introduced children’s growth cheese
stick in new package with no preservative, artificial
flavors and color additives. New products, such as
cheese dessert made of imported cheese and free of
white sugar with high calcium and high protein content,
were also introduced. & /fT/=H# also introduced fresh
cheese with 100% cheese content, as well as
revolutionary room temperature squid flavored cheese
snacks so as to address consumers’ demand for
healthier and more nutritious cheese options which offer
rich flavors.

FAN RENREENBHLEELACERIE  RERED
B - REANEE - EBDNEE R Sin R ER - RSELEL
72 2% (Castello) = i W B FI4E K 72 (Lurpak) B E& =M @« B2
HEERX2RENRASS ERARBEHLEFBERZENK
RYEEE - ET0MRE - 0B - 0BX - UREHZK
MEm SRENBRMEERD  ZEmOBWESE KA
EONE aatteE0E )N FAREHEL TS
100%EC THE R LRRFEHNE AL ANET
R-NAAHEELUNERE FLEEREEAKRNE
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Key Products:

BH

E FC/EM children’s growth cheese stick
B L2 cheese dessert
B 20 shredded mozzarella

Em
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

PRODUCTION

Mengniu deploys its production capacity according to the
potential of relevant markets and its own product strategy. As at
31 December 2020, Mengniu had 41 production bases in China,
and one production base in Australia, New Zealand and
Indonesia, respectively. It had a total annual production capacity
of 9.9 million tons (December 2019: 9.5 million tons).

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

In 2020, Mengniu was committed to its vision of “Protecting the
Health of Mankind and the Earth” and promoted the integration of
its sustainable development plan and the Group’s operation
targets in all aspects. In August 2020, Mengniu was selected as
one of the constituent stocks of the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Index (“HSSUS”) and the Hang Seng ESG50 Index.
During the year, Mengniu’s factories that were awarded the title of
“National Green Factory” by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology also increased from 9 at the end of 2019
to 17 at the end of 2020.

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus in 2020, Mengniu has
been organizing charity activities under the slogan “Fight Against
the Epidemic Courageously, Greatness for China”. The Group
donated dairy products to more than 10,000 health care
institutions and epidemic prevention organizations to provide
nutritional support. Medicare personnel from across the country
helping in Hubei were provided with Milk Deluxe for free
throughout the vyear. In addition, Mengniu made a prompt
donation to aid the establishment of an emergency resources
center for epidemic prevention and control in Wuhan following the
outbreak of the Epidemic, which organized the delivery of 40.12
million items to Wuhan to ensure epidemic prevention and control
supplies. Mengniu also provide support to the partners in the
industrial chain who were affected by the Epidemic by providing
loans and financial credits, as well as assisting in the
arrangement of logistics. Consequently, Mengniu was awarded
“The 11™ China Charity Awards” by the Ministry of Civil Affairs of
China for its outstanding contribution during the Epidemic.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year, Mengniu strengthened its efforts towards the
Environment, the Society and Corporate Governance. The
Sustainable Development Committee and Executive Committee on
Sustainable Development held their first meeting in the year,
which enabled in-depth discussion on issues in relation to “the
Environment, the Society and Corporate Governance”, and
enhanced the roadmap of its three-year plan, so as to further
implement its strategies and strengthen its organisational
management. As at end of 2020, Mengniu had a total of 17
“National Green Factories”, an increase of eight when compared
with that at the end of 2019. During the year, Mengniu promoted
a responsible supply chain by including “Environmental, Social and
Corporate Governance” factors in the management of
procurement and providing suppliers with ESG training. Mengniu
also promoted education in green and low carbon lifestyles by
organizing an array of activities including “DingTalk Cloud
Planting”, “Earth Hour” and lectures on energy saving and
emission reduction, riding on special events, such as Arbor Day,
Earth Day and Energy-saving Week. Staff from 56 factories and
850 families have joined these events, which participated 17,073
person-times in total. On 16 September 2020, more than 600
Mengniu employees took part in “Clean Up the World”, a
voluntary event, and cleared 1,418 kg of rubbish from 15 km of
riverbank. In addition, Mengniu launched a project to replace
paper boxes with reusable boxes for chilled yogurt during the
year. The project was honored “Golden Apple Reusable Items
Design Award” by the 23rd China Plastics Recycling Conference.

In 2020, Mengniu participated in a number of charity events to
help alleviate social problems. Mengniu continued its “Inclusive
Nutrition Plan” and provided 6.26 million packs of Future Star
Student’s Milk to more than 0.7 milion students from 494
schools across 20 provinces, cities and autonomous regions.
Mengniu also supported the “Heroes Legacy Program” launched
by the Henghui Charity Foundation in Shenzhen through a
donation to provide long-term nutrition and education support for
the children of 160 frontline personnel in China who lost their lives
in fighting the spread of the Epidemic. Furthermore, Mengniu
continued to cooperate with the “Youth Teacher Empowerment
Education Plan”, which provides online training to 1,175 young
village teachers in Inner Mongolia, Hebei and Gansu, in order to
promote education in villages. In 2020, Mengniu ranked first in the
Corporate Social Responsibility Development Index for Dairy
Enterprises, by the Corporate Social Responsibility Research
Center of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

Mengniu has continued its poverty alleviation strategies in 2020,
namely “economic poverty alleviation, nutritional poverty alleviation
and targeted poverty alleviation”. In regard to economic poverty
alleviation, the Group assisted 1.5 million farmers and ranchers in
the plantation of silage, alfalfa and oat, directly and indirectly
through cooperating with its associated companies such as China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., China Shengmu Organic Milk
Limited, Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial (Group) Co.,
Ltd. and other partners, and help the development of plantation
industry in Inner Mongolia. Mengniu’s poverty alleviation
achievements were highly regarded by the State Council Leading
Group Office of Poverty Alleviation and Development and were
recognized as being among the “50 Best Corporate Targeted
Poverty Alleviation Programs-Integrated Program” and “50 Best
Corporate Targeted Poverty Alleviation Programs-Individual
Program”. Mengniu was the only dairy enterprise to have its
poverty alleviation programs listed in both categories.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of
approximately 40,626 employees in Mainland China, Hong Kong,
Oceania and Southeast Asia, including around 2,919 employees
working for Yashili. During the year, the total cost of employees
(including the salaries of directors and senior management
personnel) amounted to approximately RMB6,290.1 million (2019:
RMB7,081.8 million).

In an effort to further enhance its human resources management
system, Mengniu developed structural analysis tools during the
year to analyze the structure of certain business and functional
departments, providing the management with scientific insights
and suggestions for effective decision-making. In addition, an
effective talent supply chain management process was
established. Key personnel assessment was further standardized
based on the “LOVE+” model, in which systematic procedures
are adopted to identify outstanding internal personnel with the
potential to sit in the upper echelon of the company. Moreover, it
has been Mengniu’s strategy to extensively train internal
personnel while recruiting external talent when necessary. With its
insightful staff deployment for strategic segments which have
insufficient talent, nurturing of talent pool, establishment of trainee
management systems and other initiatives, the Group has
continued to increase and improve its human resources.

RO CRARBIEXKE EBFKEE
HREIMKERS  BREEXKE  BBHS
BETBERRFPERABEERARAR - FH
EWERDNEERAR AXLEREREX (£
E)ERARMAIERH  BEERMEEHH2E
0B RBRER HIAREST  HE &K
BREMBEEXRER XTHWRERRBRESE
BREEMERY  A\B_T_TF[ERBEK
BiRARGIS0E]IMIBEIFEKRE FEBEPIS0
EIRE KW NEIERANILD -

ABEIR

R-ZZ-ZTF+-_A=+—H AEERPEK
e B RKRAFMEREEATHEEAREY
40,626%  BEHELFIEBE 42,9198 - FAE
BHEERA (BRREERSAEEABHS)OAA
R#629011EL (R —NF : AR¥70.818

87T »

SEVRHRBETEANEBERSEEESNE  RFENRN
HEREIWTE - HE D ERMBEaEFFIALE
BETOW  AEBERRERT RB2EAFR
Mg - A ZEESIEERHALHERE
BRiB P ESTHRASIFTERE
[LOVE+ ] - Bm ARG IER AL B HRIA
HEFERENOAT NMELETAS D
B o lboh - REBRBFRIEE NIEBERNIAA B
ESI#EINGB AT HISREE - BB ATIE /M BB RE 4B
HHOMBRAL - AREERE  BEEEHIIE
BEBRSEE THREREBEANER-



Annual Report 2020 —ZE-ZFFF3§ é

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

To further introduce innovative measures to its personnel training
system, Mengniu initiated phase two of the “Blue Ocean Plan”,
which caters for the nurturing of senior management in each
department, in 2020. In addition, the “Boundary-less” online
community learning project was launched in response to the
epidemic outbreak, and the Mengniu Marketing Institution was
established. Also, with the continuous optimization of its “Zhide”
online learning system and operation, Mengniu was honored as
one of the “TOP 10 Chinese Enterprises in Digital Learning” in the
BOOAOO Awards, which is revered as the Academy Awards of
the online learning industry. This honor reflects Mengniu’s
success in becoming the benchmark for online learning.

During the year, Mengniu also completed the upgrade of its
human resources information system. Looking ahead to 2021, the
Group will use this system to carry out the digital transformation
of human resources management, which will result in a digitalized
human resources management platform enabling business
integration, information sharing, data connection and accurate
analysis.

Mengniu has continued to optimize its salary management
system, which is performance-based and is aimed at promoting
enterprising spirit and facilitating synergies among staff members
through reasonable authorization and hierarchical incentives.
8,199,897 restricted shares were granted under the share award
scheme and 1,016,887 share options were granted under the
share option scheme in 2020. Furthermore, the Group optimized
employee benefits during the period through such means as
upgrading health check-ups and by adding two-child benefits to
enhance the cohesiveness of the Mengniu Team.

PROSPECTS

In 2020, Mengniu flexibly adjusted its business strategy, which
enabled it to seize the new market opportunities brought by
post-epidemic changes in consumers’ spending habits and
evolution of sales channels in China. As such, the Group grew
faster and managed higher quality development relative to before
the Epidemic hit. During the year, Mengniu upgraded its
corporate culture system and laid down a five-year plan. Guided
by the new slogan “Creating a new Mengniu by 2025 it will
strive to become consumer’s first choice, a digitalized &
internationalized Mengniu and a Mengniu with strong cultural gene
and responsibility by 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERIZ AR

Regarding product strategies, the Group will pay close attention
to the needs of health-conscious consumers and the increasing
demand for dairy products. It will continue to focus on developing
product categories which are in demand in the market and have
high growth potential. The Group will also work hard to create
high-end star products that are organic, and low in fat and sugar
in the nutritional and healthy food categories.

Mengniu will adopt a customer-centric approach, gather ideas
from in and outside the the Group via an open and innovative
platform to help with swift product and technological innovation
and meet more personalized needs of consumers. The Group
endeavors not only to become a brand that stands for safety,
quality and nutritional value, but also one that consumers of all
ages cherish. Its aspiration is for Mengniu to be a well-loved
brand of the consumer mass and win in particular the
acceptance and recognition of the younger generation.

On the front of management upgrade, Mengniu has set up a
Digitalization Strategy Management Committee and a Digitalization
Strategy Project Team to speed up implementation of its
digitalization strategy across the Group. In the future, Mengniu
intends to restructure its supply chain, industrial chain, as well as
its organizational and operation model, and also business model.
Such efforts will equip the Group with digital intelligence, enabling
its brand, products and services to reach target consumers. They
will also give the Group’s industrial chain the ability to evolve and
improve on its own and empower the Group to upgrade and
become a platform-based ecological enterprise that affords
high-quality development.

As for channel strategies, Mengniu will continue to push forward
with strategies to help channel penetration with its “Penetration
into Towns and Villages” initiative. It will vigorously develop online
sales channels including traditional e-commerce, 020 home
delivery, WeChat sales and community group marketing.
Moreover, it will continue to encourage its different businesses to
use the “Smart Network” system to grow.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition, the Group wants to become an international brand.
On top of global sourcing deployment, Mengniu also aspires to
claim its share in the international market. With an aim to become
an influential and international enterprise, Mengniu will strengthen
its business in Southeast Asia and Oceania, groom a pool of
high-caliber talent with international perspective and develop an
internationalized diary industry business model namely the
“Mengniu model”. It is the hope of Mengniu that it can replicate
its success in branding, product offerings and business
operational mode in other countries and regions.

During the year, Mengniu started enhancing its corporate culture,
taking on the new mission of “Every drop of nutrition makes every
life thrive” and the New vision of “From the grasslands across the
world, Mengniu products nourish and are loved by over 2 billion
consumers around the world”. Guided by its core values of
“‘consumers are at the heart of all our decisions”, “creative
solution wins the future”, “empower and inspire talents to
succeed” and “our integrity and honesty support our continued
success” and upholding the “born to excel, constantly strive for
self-improving” spirit, the Group is advancing towards achieving
the goals of its 2025 Strategy. In the next five years, Mengniu will
promote its mission, vision and core values to all departments
and branches around the world, instilling them into the heart and
mind of every employee, that it may become an enterprise with a
strong corporate culture, which will transform into impetuses for it
to develop and grow.

Moving forward, Mengniu will continue to walk the quality
development path in steadfast strides, at its best effort to ensure
product and service quality, working by the management
philosophy of no compromise on product quality, value and
execution. It is committed to providing world-class products and
services to consumers around the world. The Group will continue
to develop a responsible supply chain and produce dairy
products in an environmentally-friendly manner. The Group will
make contribution to revitalize the dairy industry in China and
facilitate the industry’s quality development.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
EEREHREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lu Minfang, aged 52, was appointed as an executive
director and chief executive officer of the Company in September
2016. Mr. Lu is the chairman and a non-executive director of
Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”), a subsidiary of the
Company listed in Hong Kong and the chairman and a non-
executive director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (“China
Modern Dairy”), an associate of the Company listed in Hong
Kong. Mr. Lu is also a director of International Dairy Federation.
He was the chief executive officer and an executive director of
Yashili before his appointment as chairman of the board of
directors of Yashili. Mr. Lu was also a director of the following
subsidiaries of Yashili, namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili
International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co.,
Limited and Scient International Group Limited. Mr. Lu was the
Vice President (Greater China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition
Greater China and had been with Danone Group and Dumex
Baby Food Co. Ltd. for over 10 years. During his tenure at
Danone Group, he demonstrated strong strategic business and
market planning capabilities. With strong leadership, management
skills and in-depth market knowledge, Mr. Lu had contributed
significantly to the success of Danone Group’s baby nutrition
business in China. Prior to joining Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9
years with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and
almost 4 years with General Electric Company (China). Prior to
joining Mengniu Group, Mr. Lu has over 18 years of experience in
sales and marketing and has been in general manager or senior
executive roles for over 7 years. Mr. Lu has extensive experience
in the management of fast moving consumer products and dairy
companies and has an excellent grasp and in-depth knowledge of
the PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his Bachelor’'s degree from
Fudan University in Shanghai.

MANAGEMENT
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Meng Fanjie, aged 56, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in June 2019 and is a vice president of
the Group. Mr. Meng previously worked as the General Manager
of Shenyang Xiangxue Flour Co., Ltd., the Assistant to the
General Manager and then as the Deputy General Manager of
COFCO’s Wheat Processing Department, the General Manager of
COFCO'’s Project Management Department, the General Manager
of COFCO Chengdu Industrial Park, the Deputy General Manager
of China Grain & Logistics Corporation, the Deputy General
Manager of COFCO Trading Corporation and the Deputy Director
of COFCO Group’s Party-mass Work Department (in charge of
the daily work). Mr. Meng graduated from Tsinghua University
with a Master’'s Degree in electronic magnetics and microwave
technology.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Lang, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of the
Company in April 2019. Mr. Chen joined COFCO Corporation in
April 2019 and is currently an executive vice president of COFCO
Corporation, the chairman of COFCO WOMAI.COM Investment
Limited (FRERERFILEHFRAA), a non-executive director and
the chairman of the board of directors of China Foods Limited (a
company listed in Hong Kong) and a director and the chairman of
the board of directors of each of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited and COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China) Investment
Ltd., both of which are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of China
Foods Limited. In the past, Mr. Chen had served as a director
and the chairman of the board of directors of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, an executive vice president of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a director of CRH (Beer)
Limited, the chairman of China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Investment Co., Ltd., a director of China Resources
Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources National
Corporation), the chief executive officer of China Resources
Vanguard Co., Ltd., the chairman of each of China Resources Ng
Fung Limited and China Resources C’estbon Beverage (China)
Investment Co., Ltd. and a vice chairman and the chief executive
officer of China Resources Logic Limited (now renamed as China
Resources Gas Group Limited). Mr. Chen was a vice chairman of
the board of directors and a member of strategy committee of
Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Limited (LLF875/ERT %
B D AR AT (@ company listed in Shanghai) until June
2019; and an executive director and the chairman of the board of
directors of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (a
company listed in Hong Kong) until July 2019. Mr. Chen holds a
Bachelor of Economics degree from Anhui University, China and
a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of
San Francisco, USA.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREHEEE

Mr. Niu Gensheng, aged 63, is a non-executive director of the
Company, a member of the founding team of Yili Group, the
founder of Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company
Limited and the founder of Laoniu Foundation. Mr. Niu graduated
from the Inner Mongolia University with a degree in Administration
and Management and obtained a Master's degree in Enterprise
Management from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences
Graduate School. With extensive experience in and insights of
China’s dairy industry, Mr. Niu enjoys high reputation in the
industry. In 2007, Mr. Niu was elected as one of “China’s Most
Influential Business Leaders” for the fifth year, and was honoured
the “2007 Hong Kong Bauhinia Award.” Mr. Niu is devoted to
charity. He was on the list of “China’s Top 10 Philanthropists”
published by the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the PRC in 2007 and
ranked third in the “2007 Hurun Top 10 for Charity”, and was
presented the first and only “Lifetime Achievement in Philanthropy
Award” by the “China Philanthropists List” in 2010.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pascal De Petrini, aged 61, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in December 2017. He is
currently Non-Executive Chairman of Indonesia and Senior Advisor
Asia of Danone. He is also a director of Yakult Honsha Co., Ltd.,
a company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. Mr. De Petrini
has been working as senior management in the food and
beverage industry for more than 30 years. His experience covers
the full range of businesses, including sales and purchase, factory
management, supply chain, among others. Mr. De Petrini joined
Danone in 1984 and worked in France in the areas of project
management, factory demand and supply planning, and sales as
business development director and strategic committee member.
From 1998 to 2002, Mr. De Petrini was the general manager of
Danone’s biscuits business in China. Mr. De Petrini returned to
Paris in 2002 to work in the headquarters of Danone as General
Manager of Themis (global SAP program roll-out) until 2004.
From 2004 to 2007, Mr. De Petrini worked in Indonesia as
general manager of Aqua, a bottled water company of Danone.
From 2007 to 2008, Mr. De Petrini worked as vice president of
Danone’s water business in Asia Pacific and was responsible for
the water and beverage business in China, Indonesia and New
Zealand. From 2008 to 2011, Mr. De Petrini worked as vice
president of Danone’s early life nutrition business in Asia Pacific
and was responsible for ten countries in the region, including
China. In 2011, Mr. De Petrini joined Fraser & Neave Ltd, a listed
company engaged in the food and beverage business across the
Asia Pacific region, as Chief Executive Officer until 2013, when he
joined the Fonterra Cooperative Group Ltd as managing director
of its businesses in Asia Pacific, the Middle East and Africa. In
2015, Mr. De Petrini returned to Danone as Executive Vice
President of Strategic Resource Cycles till he took on his current
role in 2017. Mr. De Petrini graduated from Ecole Nationale
Supérieure des Mines de Nancy in France with a Master of
Science in Engineering degree in 1981 and obtained a Master of
Science in Management degree from ESSEC Business School in
France in 1983.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREHEEE

Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens, aged 55, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company in January 2021.
Mr. Stevens graduated from Loughborough University in 1988
with a Bsc honours degree in Management Sciences. He started
his career in Unilever for 14 years in sales and marketing roles
based in U.K., Netherlands and Italy. He joined Arla Foods in
2002, as a Sales Director in the UK business as part of the UK
leadership team and then became SVP of Sales and Marketing
where Mr. Stevens spearheaded the development of major
customer partnerships and built a fast-growing branded portfolio
helping grow the UK business from £ 500 million to £2.5 Billion
and from No. 4 in dairy to No.1 supplier in FMCG. In 2016,
Mr. Stevens moved to the newly set-up Europe Zone as Senior
Vice President for Commercial Operations, overseeing the Sales
and Marketing functions and working closely with Arla’s Supply
Chain organisation. During this time Mr. Stevens’ focus was on
creating regional growth engines across the brand portfolio and
driving a digitalisation agenda across the sales and marketing
functions. In 2020 he moved to Dubai to lead the MENA
business, Arla’s largest region within its International Zone as a
Senior Vice President. In a short space of time Mr. Stevens has
applied his considerable leadership capabilities to work with his
country heads and Arla’s joint venture partners to navigate the
business through COVID-19, delivering exceptionally high levels of
growth for Arla’s key brands and customers and maintaining a
safe working environment for Arla’s workforce of around 3,000
colleagues. On 1 January 2021 Mr. Stevens joined Arla’s
Executive Management team as EVP International responsible for
all Arla’s International business and the International supply chain.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), aged 55, was appointed as
a non-executive director of the Company in February 2004 and is
a vice-chairman of the board of directors of the Company. Mr.
Jiao was redesignated from a non-executive director of the
Company to an independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 12 April 2012. Mr. Jiao joined the
Group in September 2002 and is currently a director and chief
executive officer of CDH China Management Company Limited.
Mr. Jiao received a Bachelor's Degree in Mathematics from
Shandong University and a Master’s Degree in Engineering from
the No. 2 Research Institute of the Ministry of Aeronautics and
Astronautics. Currently, Mr. Jiao also serves as a non-executive
director of WH Group Limited, an independent non-executive
director of China Southern Airlines Company Limited and the
chairman and non-executive director of Mabpharm Limited, all of
which are companies listed in Hong Kong. In addition, Mr. Jiao
serves as a director of Henan Shuanghui Investment &
Development Co., Ltd. and Hainan Poly Pharm Co. Ltd., both of
which are companies listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Jiao was a director
of Joyoung Company Limited, a company listed in Shenzhen,
until April 2020.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, aged 47, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in January 2006 and was
redesignated from a non-executive director of the Company to an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 12 April 2012. Mr. Wolhardt is currently the chief executive
officer of DCP Advisors, Limited focusing on private equity
transactions in the Greater China region. Mr. Wolhardt was
previously with KKR Asia Limited and Morgan Stanley responsible
for private equity business in China. Mr. Wolhardt is a certified
public accountant and certified management accountant and
received a Bachelor’'s Degree in Accounting from the University of
lllinois (Urbana-Champaign) in the United States. Mr. Wolhardt
currently serves as an independent non-executive director of
China Modern Dairy, a company listed in Hong Kong. He is now
also a director of Fujian Sunner Development Co., Ltd, a
company listed in Shenzhen, and an independent director of Niu
Technologies, a company listed on NASDAQ. He was previously
a non-executive director of COFCO Meat Holdings Limited (now
renamed as COFCO Joycome Foods Limited), a company listed
in Hong Kong, until August 2020.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREHEEE

Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in May 2009. Mr. Zhang
is a graduate of the Shandong University and the school of
management at the Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics and is a senior engineer. He is currently the
chairman of Zhong Ding United Dairy Farming Co., Ltd (1 S EiA
HERMABRAR), as well as the chairman of Beijing
Xindajiading Investment Company Limited (it R{5E 2SR EGR
73 7)), an independent non-executive director of New Focus Auto
Tech Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, and an
independent director of Guangzhou Zhuijiang Digital Group (& /M|
KTEE S E). Mr. Zhang previously served as a director and
president of AirMedia Group Inc., a company listed on NASDAQ,
and the chairman of Unibank Media (3R /& i@ {5 i 5 ).

Mr. Yau Ka Chi, aged 63, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in October 2016. Mr. Yau
has over 30 years of professional accounting services experience
including 20 years in serving PRC-based enterprises. He had
worked for Ernst & Young in its Hong Kong, Toronto and Beijing
offices, with a primary focus in providing professional services in
accounting and audit, initial public offering, and corporate
restructuring, before retiring in September 2015. When he was
with Ernst & Young, Mr. Yau was appointed, among others, as
the professional practice director of Greater China and the
assurance leader for China North Region. Mr. Yau is currently an
independent non-executive director of Yihai International Holding
Ltd. and China Power International Development Limited, both
companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yau is also an independent
non-executive director of BetterLife Holding Limited, an applicant
for listing in Hong Kong. Mr. Yau holds a professional diploma in
company secretaryship and administration from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University)
and is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yau
also holds a certified public accountant license issued by the
llinois Department of Financial and Professional Regulation, the
United States.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Ping, aged 56, graduated from the Beijing Information
Science and Technology University with a Master’'s Degree in
Management Engineering. Mr. Zhang, who joined the Group in
2014, is currently a vice president and the chief financial officer of
the Group. He has over 25 years of experience in the fast-moving
consumer goods industry, specializing in management of
operation, finance and audit, as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang
worked in Swire Beverages group companies as manager
responsible for internal audit and system development, finance
director, general manager of bottler manufacturing company and
chief executive officer of Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing
Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang is also a non-executive director of
Yashili, China Modern Dairy and China Shengmu Organic Milk
Limited respectively, all companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Gao Fei, aged 44, is a senior vice president and the head of
room temperature product business unit of the Group. Mr. Gao
joined the Group in 1999, and successively held the positions of
regional manager, center manager, sales director and general
manager of the sales department and contributed to the rapid
growth of the market share of Mengniu. Mr. Gao has abundant
practical experience in sales, marketing and promotion of dairy
products. In 2016, he was appointed as vice president of the
UHT business division. He is currently responsible for operation
and management of the core business of the Group. Mr. Gao
obtained a Bachelor's degree from Shandong University, then an
Executive Master in Business Administration degree from Tsinghua
University.

Mr. Wen Yongping, aged 46, joined the Group in 1999 and is
currently a vice president and the head of chilled product
business unit of the Group. Mr. Wen graduated from the Inner
Mongolia Agricultural University and obtained a Master’s Degree in
Food Engineering. Mr. Wen once served as the general manager
of production direction centre, operations assistant vice president
and milk sources vice president in the Group, and is experienced
in production and operations management and milk sources
management. Mr. Wen was a non-executive director of China
Modern Dairy, a company listed in Hong Kong, until January
2019.
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EEREHEEE

Mr. Luo Yan, aged 59, joined the Group in November 2017 and
is currently a vice president and the head of developing business
unit of the Group. Mr. Luo graduated from the China Textile
University and Fudan University, and obtained a Bachelor’s
Degree in Textile Engineering and a Master’'s Degree in Business
Administration respectively. Mr. Luo joined General Mills China as
national sales director in 1999; he held the position of vice
president (Greater China) in 2008 and was responsible for
overseeing Wanchai Ferry Business Department in the Greater
China region and sales in China region. In 2013, Mr. Luo took up
the role of global business director of Haagen-Dazs at General
Mills  Minnesota Headquarters. He continued to be the vice
president (Greater China) of General Mils in 2014, and was
responsible for sales in China Region, as well as the retail and
food and beverage business department of Haagen-Dazs.

Mr. Zhang Zhaoxu, aged 47, joined the Group in July 2017, and
is currently a vice president and the head of human resources
management of the Group. He graduated from the Southeast
University and Tianjin University and obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree
in Engineering and a Master’'s Degree in management
respectively. Mr. Zhang had worked for various Fortune Global
500 enterprises between 1996 and 2012, holding management
roles in human resources. In 2013, he joined China Fortune Land
Development Co., Ltd as general manager of the human
resources centre of City Developments Group. He joined
Glaxosmithkline (China) Investment Co. Ltd as human resources
director of consumer healthcare products business (China region)
in 2015.

Ms. Dai Lu, aged 49, joined the Group in September 2019, and
is currently a vice president and the head of R&D unit of the
Group. Before joining the Group, Ms. Dai has successively served
for the global R&D centers of The Coca Cola Company and
PepsiCo Inc and has had over 20 years of experiences in the
field of R&D around the world. Her last position in PepsiCo in
2018 was the Senior R&D Director (Greater China and Asia
Pacific). Before joining the Group, she was a business starter to
provide Mengniu Group and numerous food and beverages
companies in China and Southeast Asia with R&D related
consultancy services. Ms. Dai graduated from Fudan University
and Tongji University with Master’s degrees.

BEXRE 595 R-ZE—+tF+—ANMAKRE
- REASEAY ZEEXEFAEA-BL
ERBEENPRGHBAERERKRE SR
SHBIRELT IHERBEITSEAM - BEER
—hWNANENABRBESRRTEAR  T2HE
HERE R—_FETNFEECAPERIBH -
DERNFPERETHEEESINFREHEE - =
T—=F BAERBRAESBPEREZMEIET
BIREM 2R EESAE B YR _T—NF
HERTBRESATERIEY  AaETHRE
HE ITHABERBENTENMERZEL -

REMBEE 475 R_T—LFELAMARE
CREAKEERE  ANEREEEEA
EERBERRBABRKEAE - DHEFIH
ETHEEEBRLIHAREBE -KRELA
—NANRFE-_ZT-—_FHEALRMAZ KR
TEREEEEANBERERMELU R-2F—=
FMAZEZRBBROHAERAF  AHTHREE
ANEBERBPLBEE  —T-—RAFMABMHESL
R(PEREERAF  EHEERRREST
BEANBREE -

WLt 495 — T NAFAAMAKREE
REAKBERIEER MELAEA - MAXEE
Al B LSRR RABN A O A R BB F A4
NREHIFES L - AR IR BB BB205F
Wk E-FT—\FEAFARAAMEEE
AFPERETARSRAEBE - IMAREER]
WwEHRAR  RRTEBERZFXPEMRFEEN
REKHARIRHENSHBEDARS - Bt
EXNEBXRBENREBEARE  BEHREL B -



Annual Report 2020 —ZE-ZFFF3§ 6

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Zhigang, aged 48, joined the Group in June 2017, and
is currently a vice president and the head of safety and quality
management unit of the Gorup. He graduated from the Huazhong
Agricultural University and Central China Normal University, and
obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Food Technology and
Engineering and a Master’'s Degree in Economics respectively.
Mr. Yang joined the Hubei Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine
Bureau as deputy section manager, section manager and deputy
director of the office in 1995; and he joined the registration and
administration department of Certification and Accreditation
Administration of the People’s Republic of China as researcher,
department head and vice inspector in 2002; he joined COFCO
as general manager and vice director of the quality and safety
management department, vice director of the audit and legal risk
control department in 2013.

Mr. Li Pengcheng, aged 50, joined the Group in September
2018 and is currently a vice president and the head of group
affairs & group office of the Group. Mr. Li graduated from the
department of information management in Peking University,
majoring in Science and Technology Intelligence, and Tianjin
University with a Master's Degree and a Doctoral Degree in
Management. Mr. Li used to work in the Office of the Central
Internet Security and Information Technology Commission, where
he was the inspector of the network emergency management and
network public opinion bureau, deputy director general and
director of the China Internet lllegal and Objectionable Information
Reporting Center (bureau level).
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Mr. Stephen Maher, aged 56, joined the Group in March 2020
and is currently a vice president and the head of the International
Business Unit. Mr. Maher graduated from the University of
Sydney with a Bachelor’s degree. He has worked in China for 20
years as president of Mondelez international and Carlsberg beer.
He has been deeply involved in the FMCG industry and has rich
experience in multinational enterprise management and
multicultural management. At present, he is leading the
international development of the Southeast Asia Business Unit,
Indonesia Business Unit, Oceania Business Unit and Bellamy
Business Unit under the International Business Unit of the Group.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris, aged 48, the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company, joined the Group in
May 2007. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong listed company and he also served in
an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’s Degree in
Accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is dedicated to ensuring high standards of
corporate governance with an emphasis on a diligent board of
directors, sound internal control, and increasing transparency and
accountability to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Board acknowledges that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group
and its shareholders. The Company is committed to improving
those practices and maintaining its ethical corporate culture.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
as its own code of corporate governance practices.

Throughout the year, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in
compliance with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code,
save as disclosed in the section headed “Nomination Committee”
regarding the composition of the Nomination Committee.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2020, the Board comprised ten Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lu Minfang and Mr.
Meng Fanjie, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Lang, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Tim Qrting Jorgensen and Mr.
Pascal De Petrini and four independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul
Wolhardt, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Yau Ka Chi. The Chairman
of the Board is Mr. Chen Lang and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company is Mr. Lu Minfang. Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)
is a Vice-Chairman of the Board. Subsequent to the year ended
31 December 2020 and with effect from 1 January 2021, Mr. Tim
Qrting Jergensen resigned as non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Sustainability Committee, and a member of each
of the Nomination Committee and Strategy and Development
Committee due to his commitment to other personal
development, and Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens was appointed as
a non-executive Director, the chairman of the Sustainability
Committee, and a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and Strategy and Development Committee.
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The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of
the Company. Key responsibilities of the Board comprise
formulation of the Group’s overall strategies and policies, setting
of performance and management targets, evaluation of business
performance and supervision of management’s performance. The
Board is also responsible for preparing the financial statements of
the Company. The management is delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the management and
operations of the Group. The role of the management is to
implement the strategies and directions determined by the Board
and to work within the framework of any written procedures and
instructions laid down by the Board. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of
the Company (the “Board Committees”) as detailed in this report.

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 68 to 74 of the
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications of the Directors. There is no other
material financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the Directors.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Their role is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration and
decisions.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board has assessed their independence and concluded that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the definition of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is

responsible for determining the policies for

corporate governance of the Company and performing the
corporate governance duties including:

(@)

During the vyear,

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

to review and monitor
professional
management;

the training and continuous
development of Directors and senior

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance Code and

Corporate Governance Report).

the Board has performed the corporate

governance functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance practices.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAININGS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules
and regulations. The Company Secretary also provides Directors
with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company has provided the Directors with reading
materials with appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of the Directors. A summary of trainings received by the
Directors during the year according to the records provided by
the Directors is as follows:

BT

BENZEINESHESATORTAMRE
B LREREANRRNEEREHARKEFER
MES ER RAERTHRELDEHEED
BEE - REIMENETBHRESREMHAR LR
AR EMAERRERRENSHNERIEE -

ARRSBAAEE2RFEFXERR  UBR
WHEH BN - ARARNEEFRTEEEES
AR BEMEENSEBEMH - REBEESFMAEHR
M BERNFAMBRIMNEIRALT -

Type of trainings

Directors = b2 B
Executive Directors BITES
Lu Minfang B BK A B, C
Meng Fanijie LA A C
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Chen Lang F& BA A, C
Niu Gensheng FIRAE A C
Tim @rting Jergensen Tim Qrting Jergensen A C
Pascal De Petrini Pascal De Petrini A B, C
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYEHTES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) EHE(XNEEE A C
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt A, C
Zhang Xiaoya R B b A, C
Yau Ka Chi BRB A C

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums relevant to the A: HEHEEKNEERIEENMT L SeH

business or directors’ duties &/ siwiE
B:  giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums B: HTHNER REER HmBLES
C:  reading materials relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities and C: HEEREEEBRENETLSTEEEHFENE

regulatory updates

BrE



BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional
operational meetings are also held, when required. The Company
Secretary is responsible for preparing agenda and notices for the
meetings. Senior management of the Group also provides the
Directors with relevant information on a timely basis regarding key
business developments of the Group and issues affecting the
Group. Agenda and other information packages are normally
delivered to the Directors before the meetings. The Directors also
have independent access to the senior management in respect of
operational issues. The Directors may take independent
professional advice where appropriate to discharge their duties, at
the Company’s expenses.

The Board held six meetings during the year ended 31
December 2020 and one further meeting since 1 January 2021
up to the date of this report. Details of the Directors’ attendance
at the Board and Board Committee meetings and the annual
general meeting of the Company held in 2020 are set out in the
following table.
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EZSREEBER
EXesFTRIBTHREE  NTEEAFER
BINBTTER R AN EAEREERERE
MEE - AEESRAERETERNESRMHA
AASEIZXBERNZEAEEETENE
o BRENEMENBREERTERNRGLE
EZ-EEHAREEEEEMNESREREER
Ao BEFAAEEEBATHABLIEXER - A
BETRE  BERBARFEE-

o

EEeHE T _TFF+_A=+—HIEFESR
FTRREE YN -_BE-—F—F—BEXRK
SHHBERTT AR SESHER-Z
—EFRITNESSNEEZESTH  UER
AREIRFBFRGHBERFBHN TR -

Sustainability Annual
Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination Committee General
Meetings*  Committee ~ Committee  Committee | Meeting
Directors Ezgedr BRZEE FMZEE REZEE BEZEE RRBEEAE
Executive Directors BiER
Lu Minfang E R 6/6 11 1/1
Meng Fanjie ERS 6/6 11
Non-executive Directors FUES
Chen Lang B 6/6 22 1/1
Niu Gensheng (Note 1) FRA (M) 2/6 11
Tim @rting Jorgensen Tim @rting Jargensen 5/6 1/2 11 11
Pascal De Petrini Pascal De Petrini 6/6 2/2 i 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHTES
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) ERE(NEEE) 6/6 33 11
Julian Juul Wolhardt Julian Juul Wolhardt 6/6 4/4 3/3 212 11
Zhang Xiaoya KRBT 6/6 4/4 3/3 11
Yau Ka Chi BR% 6/6 4/4 11 11
* During the year, the Board held four quarterly meetings and two  * EEERFRBITTHOATEERAMAEME

other meetings to handle operational-level and investment matters.

According to the Company’s articles of association, the quorum for

convening a Board meeting is two members.
Note 1: Notwithstanding that Mr. Niu did not attend some of the meetings
in person, he had communicated with the management,
reviewed the board papers and given opinions to the Board/
Company Secretary before the meetings. Mr. Niu has extensive
experience in the dairy industry with foresight and gives
influential opinions to the Board.

FONREEFEEARRESEER - REART
HEERRAR ARESERRNEAEARR S
A e

BRSEEVEEEHEETEE  BES
ANBHEEEER FHEFEXMHLMW
ERg NAWERHBER - FAREEAE
BFELERLR WABAMEENRE KT
ExenERARREN -

BT
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Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are
kept by the Company Secretary of the Company and are not only
open for inspection by the Directors but also sent to the
Directors for their records. All Directors have access to the
Company Secretary of the Company, who is responsible for
ensuring that the Board procedures are complied with and
advising the Board on compliance matters.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief
Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the
Board while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
managing the Group’s business. As at 31 December 2020, the
Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chen Lang, a non-executive
Director, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr.
Lu Minfang, an executive Director.

The Chairman shall ensure that Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively and all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings. He is also responsible for
ensuring that the Directors receive adequate information in a
timely manner, which must be accurate, clear, complete and
reliable. The Chairman shall also ensure the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibilities; all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner; good corporate governance practices and procedures
are established; and appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective  communication with Shareholders and that views of
Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Each Director (for the avoidance of doubt, including the
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years. The
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
each annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
article 112 of the Company’s articles of association. Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board will be subject to re-election by the Shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting or the next following
general meeting of the Company respectively after the
appointment. Also, when an independent non-executive Director
proposed for re-election has served the Company for more than
nine years, his or her re-election will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved at the AGM.

EFENEFZBENERLEBARANAF
WERARRE  TMEAHREFEEH TE2RXFE
FAERE - 2REFHAEARANAFWE
g MARWERERRETENAERERF
Wt MEE G R EE -
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LB B TR KA S o T EARR
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to
assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Company has
established five Board Committees under the Board, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Strategy and Development Committee and the
Sustainability Committee, each of which is governed by specific
terms of reference approved by the Board, covering its functions,
duties and powers. The terms of reference of the respective
Board Committees have complied with the CG Code provisions
and are disclosed on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and are available for public inspection at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Julian
Juul Wolhardt, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) and Mr. Zhang
Xiaoya). The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Julian
Juul Wolhardt.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review annually
and recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy and
structure for the directors and senior management to ensure that
the level of remuneration is linked to their level of responsibilities
undertaken. These shall include making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee shall also evaluate
annually the performance of the directors and the senior
management and recommend to the Board specific adjustments
in their remuneration and/or reward payments.

The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and
competitive packages based on business needs and industry
practice. For determining the level of fees paid to members of the
Board, market rates and factors such as each director’s workload
and required commitment will be taken into account. In addition,
factors comprising economic and market situations, individual
contributions to the Group’s results and development as well as
individual potential are considered when determining the
remuneration packages of executive Directors.
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The Remuneration Committee held three meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2020. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee had performed the following:

— assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management;

—  reviewed and approved the remuneration for the Directors
and senior management including terms of the letters of
appointment;

— reviewed the remuneration
recommendations to the Board; and

policy and made

—  reviewed the proposal of granting shares according to the
Company’s share award scheme, and made
recommendations to the Board.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the members of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December
2020 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)

FMAER (AR®T)

1,000,001-2,000,000
4,000,001-5,000,000
5,000,001-6,000,000
6,000,001-7,000,000
7,000,001-8,000,000
11,000,001-12,000,000
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HEZ
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AE
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10
to the financial statements.

RELTRUMETANATHRENEERRISR
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee comprised
four members, one of whom is an independent non-executive
Director (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt) and the remaining three
members are non-executive Directors (Mr. Chen Lang, Mr. Tim
@rting Jorgensen and Mr. Pascal De Petrini). The Nomination
Committee was chaired by Mr. Chen Lang.

Code Provision A.5.1 of the Corporate Governance Code
provides that an issuer should establish a nomination committee
which is chaired by the chairman of the board or an independent
non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent
non-executive directors. The Company deviates from this
provision as less than half of the members of the Nomination
Committee are independent non-executive Directors during the
year of 2020. The Directors are of the view that during the year
ended 31 December 2020, each of Mr. Tim Qrting Jergensen
and Mr. Pascal De Petrini was able to carry out his
responsibilities as a member of the Nomination Committee in the
best interest of the Shareholders notwithstanding none of them
being an independent non-executive director as required under
Code Provision A.5.1.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to determine
the nomination policy, review the structure, size and composition,
including the skills, knowledge and experiences of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
identifying and nominating suitable candidates qualified to become
Board members, in particular, candidates who can add value to
the management through their contributions in the relevant
strategic business areas and which appointments will result in the
constitution of a stronger and more diverse Board, and makes
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.
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The Board has adopted a director nomination policy. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out below to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The
Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable.
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be taken into account:

° Character and integrity.

° Quallifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Hong Kong Listing Rules and whether
the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Hong Kong Listing Rules.

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,

independence and gender diversity.

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge

duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.
° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the

Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.
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The Board has adopted the board diversity policy to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Under such policy,
board appointments will be based on merits and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefit of diversity on the Board. The selection of candidates on
the Board is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity,
professional, industry or management experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into
account other factors based on its own business model and
specific business needs from time to time. The Nomination
Committee will continue to give adequate consideration to these
measurable objectives when making recommendation of
candidates for appointment to the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall monitor the implementation of the board diversity
policy on an on-going basis. The Nomination Committee shall
assist the Company to ensure that recruitment and selection
practices at all relevant levels (including the Board and core
senior management, or as the Nomination Committee considers
appropriate) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered. The Nomination Committee shall
also assist the Company in identifying and implementing
programs that will assist in the development of a broader and
more diverse pool of skilled and experienced core senior
management team and that, in time, their skills are expected to
prepare them for board positions.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2020 to discuss about the change in
directorship, assess the independence of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company and to review the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board, etc.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, Mr.
Zhang Xiaoya and Mr. Yau Ka Chi) in which two possess the
relevant professional qualifications required under the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Yau Ka Chi.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, and the
management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
risk management, internal controls and auditing. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review of financial reporting and by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controls and as to the efficiency of the audits.

Annual Report 2020 —ZE-ZFFF3§ @

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRESHS

EXeCRMNESEZTERER  FSIEERES
EXREBEZTTEH T - RIBABERK  EFEF
MR ARES - EEBARKUREGRETNOE
REFEXEZTEMER EFTTTENES
ER—ZIZTcERE - BREER - Fik - Xt
EBEES Bk FE TEREELR K
BE - MRELIRBFY - ARBMERBASFHE
BEALTROBEXHFEMEBEMAR -
REZEEURZEAEBRNEZTSIFLEEER
B BEERIRTZEAAERR - REEEB
EEREEEEFTEZTEBRONTIEN - 12
AEEEEBPALFERBREESTE L&
REEBNREZEERRBENEMARNRA
EREEDREZENRBREFET  AEEHRE
ZHESMANERARARZRE - RBREZEENA
BBARRBEBAZEEM@TE - WEEEES
FEZ EZalmE TEEKRIRENZLS
MERE  AFEERAEMATEERRAL -

BAZEERNE_F-TF+-A=+—81
FEBTTRAGH  UHREFRE - FEA
ARBTFRITEENBIRE - TRIEER
i ABCERRETRES -

BEREE®

RZEBEZZTF+_A=+—H BEZRZEEKE
BE=ZZBIIERTES (Julian Juul Wolhardt st
EoRBEDAERBRBLE) EFMEES
HELMARARENEBEEER - BRB%
ERETEZZESERE -

EVZBERENBES MM BMEMEAR &
REE NERERZBRFE FANETEGBE
BN EBEAEEE L HRBERE - B
ZEYMBREFELBIEN  YEREAR
BN BERER TR 9 B UM AR B R PAME 4 - #51tE
HHEFTERITHERE -



@ China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FES4 I 2GR QT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRESIRS

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31 December 2020. During the year, the Audit Committee has
performed the following:

—  met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
and findings of their audit and interim review works;
and

— reviewed external auditors’ letter

management’s response;

management

—  reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the
external auditors’ remuneration;

—  made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditors;

— reviewed the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

— reviewed and monitored the integrity of financial statements,
annual and interim reports, and annual and interim results
announcements of the Company;

— reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

— reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

— discussed auditing, internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters before recommending them to the
Board for approval; and

—  reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company
and those who deal with the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal controls or other matters.

All issues raised by the external auditors and the Audit
Committee have been addressed by the senior management. The
work and findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to
the Board. During the year, no issues brought to the attention of
the senior management and the Board were of sufficient
significance for disclosure in the annual report.

Other than the reporting responsibilities of the Company’s
auditors (please refer to the independent auditor’s report set out
on pages 121 to 128), the Directors acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group
which give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position as at 31 December 2020 and the consolidated financial
performance and cash flows of the Group for the year then
ended.

ERZBENBE_T_THFT_A=+—HAL
FERBTTHRES HEAFERN BEXZZE®
SERCT THIBETAE

—  ESMERAZBED & EAZBUN T =B TAF
S i

- B MEEMNERERENERRED
Bl /&

— RIIBEBEOMEIREEZRESTS
o

- BMEHZEIIEEBOEE AEFER
R

— WA EREN MBI - FEE A B
TR FFBIRAK

— ROEYEFRARFNPHERE - FRMT
HIRE AR FEMNFHREE R MR TEM -

- REGEBFATAHNBEMEZZBEENS
HREESER

- REUASENMBEE

B R

CAEEE LA

—  AWmEZ - AR - RREEMM RS
=H - ?ﬁi?é?ﬁﬁ%%&%%ﬁtbﬁ )53

— REARBARENBRAES REMER
REAFERERA RS GER  NFFEER
HM T EA B AEN T EETRNRET
ANIRHBEMZHE -

BARE IEJ'EEMI\*BV%(EWD%V?,\Ehuﬂﬂﬁ
FRERBELDE BEZZ BN TENAE

RANEZQER AFERN TESRE IE%D
EZSIRNMENEREETRAEFRIE -

BRARRZEEMERZHEME (FL2HFI121AE
F128EMEM B ZBENRE) I - EFHELR
FEREREAKRENMBRE - WEHBRE
BEERYRBAESER_-_Z_TF+_-A
=t ANGAMBHIRARAEEHEZBILF
ENGaBRANMEZRE



RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and for
reasonably ensuring their effectiveness. The objectives of the risk
management and internal control of the Group are: to rationally
establish a comprehensive risk management and internal control
system in a scientific manner, to apply the concepts,
philosophies, procedures, methods and tools of risk management
throughout the establishment and implementation of strategies for
effectively managing the risks, and to objectively evaluate the
effectiveness of governance, control and risk management of the
Group through independent internal audit while reasonably
ensuring the realization of the Group’s strategic objectives and
operation objectives and propelling the sustainable development
of the enterprise. Such risk management and internal control
systems are designed for managing risks rather than eliminating
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group has been solidifying three lines of defense in risk
management. It has developed a multi-level coordinated risk
management and internal supervision system for supervision,
which comprises the Audit Committee under the Board, risk
control and management committee of the operating
management, functional supervision departments, operation and
business departments and other units at various levels. Through
improving systems and procedures and taking various measures
such as daily supervision, independent evaluation and self-
evaluation, risk management, compliance management and
internal control are integrated effectively so as to reasonably
ensure the accomplishment of strategic and operation objectives.

Risk Management

The Group has established a comprehensive framework and
fundamental standards for risk management. The Group continues
to optimize its management model by building a risk-oriented
closed-loop management model with three defensive lines of “risk
identification, self-management of business, and audit supervision
and follow-up”. Risk management is integrated into business and
applied to business management effectively. The Group adopts a
rotational management method of risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk responses, risk control and risk reporting to
commence the work on risk management.
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The work on risk management follows the principle of “building
the concepts of risk management, implementing the risk
management policies, and focusing on significant risk
management and control” and through organizing annual full-scale
identification and evaluation of each of the business and function
units on the seven aspects of risks, namely, the Group’s
strategies, market, finance, operation, law and compliance, quality
and food safety as well as sustainable development, and it
focuses on the control over the significant risks. With the
management principles of hierarchical classification, the Group has
defined major responsible departments and person-in-charges and
the heads of departments shall be held accountable. The Group
has formulated appropriate risk response strategic measures or
contingency plans to effectively reduce and avoid the adverse
impact brought by those significant risks to the Group’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development.

The Risk Management Committee is the highest deliberative body
for risk management, in which the chief executive officer of the
Group and the vice president of the Group who is in charge of
risk control and auditing business serve as the chairman and the
executive deputy chairman respectively while the committee
members comprise the head of the major business divisions and
functional departments. The Risk Management Committee is
subordinated by an office which is the deliberative body for
execution, while the risk management department is the body for
daily affairs designated by the Risk Management Committee.

Reporting on the management and control of significant risks and
the effectiveness of risk management system will be regularly
made by the Group to the Audit Committee and Risk
Management Committee every year and the Committees will
evaluate and supervise the works done. Ongoing optimization of
risk management procedures and systems is carried out in
compliance with risk management framework of COSO
(Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission). Through co-operation with external consultancy
institutions and internal business empowerment and training, the
culture of risk management is gradually nurtured, the
professionalism and the prevention and control standard of risk
management personnel are enhanced, and the strategic
objectives are reasonably secured to realize.

RERERTFERIEERREREDR ZER
REERK REEZRREZINERR 5F
AR RS N BB B BE A 2 T A8 Bl RN AT A R I K
B -5 B 2E  RREASR HEHR
mEE - IREERCERINEAR TEEE
REETERER RO EORNERRE
EFEIRSCHMAEEEA ERFE-BEAR
Afl - flIEEEMEREHREERIESTE
= BYRENREERRRE AN EEBRE R
MAFEEROTNEE -

RiERZEesAREENZESAEHE &
AEBEREBEEER B0 ERIFEEESEBH
SERBRIEHEER REHETESFEIR
BEEHFIE—BEAMAK  AREEZEE TR
MAE RRTEEZSHE  EREEMMALE
R ERZEEHPIRIMNABHEHE -

AEEGETHRNEZZEY  RAREEZES®
HREEZRRBOHEZEBEALRREERE RN
M EXEZEENTEIEMEE - £HECOSO
(Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission) @& &I ELE - TEEL
[EfRE BRI R - BB BEINBHBREIE S (EN
WA aE IR EFIEERREE L - 1R
SREREREASNZERZEMHEKT  58F
FEERE IR EIR -



Internal Control

The Board and operating management are responsible for
maintaining a stable and effective internal control system, to
safeguard the assets of the Group and the interest of
shareholders, and for reviewing its effectiveness regularly. The
Group has established a multi-level internal control organizations.
Internal control organizations at different levels coordinate and
cooperate with each other to ensure the Group’s implementation
of internal control.

The senior management of the Group meets to actively evaluate
and manage the significant risks to which the Group is exposed
to and reports to the Board on a regular basis. The Group also
appoints external consultants, when considered appropriate, to
review the Group’s internal control, working systems and
workflows, as well as the management systems, and to make
suggestions on system enhancement.

Internal Audit

The Group has set up an independent internal audit department,
and the person in charge of the internal audit body can freely
liaise with the Audit Committee to directly report the progress of
works, including but not limited to audit work planning, work
results, important audit findings and rectification. The internal audit
body assumes the responsibilities of independent supervision,
assessment and advisory, which include the implementation of
independent and objective assessment and advisory on the
economic activities, internal control and risk management for the
Group and the units concerned. The internal audit body is issue-
oriented and risk-oriented, which reinforces the supervision and
strengthens the functions of management through various works
on audit.

In 2020, pursuant to the Company’s strategies, the internal audit
department focused on key risk areas and covered key control
areas. With its emphasis on economic accountability audit, the
internal audit department strengthened audit rectification and
accountability. The internal audit department completed various
audit works reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee
under the Board, which facilitated further improvement in the
Group’s compliance, internal control and risk management. The
internal audit department was promoted to become the detector
of major issues in order to support management and decision-
making, and facilitate operation improvement, preservation and
appreciation of asset values and the realization of strategic
objectives of the Company in a reasonable manner.
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The internal audit department attends the Audit Committee
meeting and reports the work on internal audit at least twice a
year. Resources such as the annual budget on management fee,
staffing of the internal audit department and competence are
guaranteed to be taken into consideration by the Audit
Committee and necessary support will be provided. This is to
ensure that sufficient audit resources are allocated to the internal
audit department for effective fulflment of annual work objectives
and responsibilities.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
considered them to be effective and adequate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal Code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

— basic principles of information disclosure

— information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria
thereof

— duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

— procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of

information
—  confidentiality of the undisclosed information

— information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

— accountability and handling measures
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Disciplinary Inspection and Reporting Channels

The Group has set up a specific disciplinary inspection
department, which is responsible for investigating and handling
reported matters on breach of disciplines or rules, misconducts
and corruptions. This is to demonstrate openly to our business
partners and staff on the channels and methods of reporting.
Such measures include that we published the channels and
methods (including phone and email) of reporting on the Group’s
website; we added an anti-corruption module in the “Mengniu
Voice” column of China Mengniu in WeChat, in which we
announced the methods of reporting and acceptance scope; we
sign the anti-business bribery contracts at the same time when
we sign business contracts with suppliers and business partners,
in which we set out the methods of reporting; we announce the
methods of reporting at our annual meetings with customers and
our annual employee meetings; we announce the methods of
reporting during the internal anti-corruption trainings held in our
daily operations; we issue typical case reports of discipline
inspection and supervision and the methods of reporting
periodically every vyear; we publish the methods of reporting
before the opening of bidding meetings for bidding activities; and
we announce the methods of reporting to new employees. At
present, the methods of reporting are published through various
channels. Employees, suppliers and business partners are familiar
with our methods of reporting and the channels of reporting are
operating smoothly. Such measures would have a deterrent and
preventive effect on matters related to breach of disciplines or
rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee
carried out review and evaluation on the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and reporting channels,
the resources, the staff qualification and experience for audit
functions and the effectiveness of the work undertaken and there
were no significant areas of concerns identified during the
evaluation of the risk management and internal control systems
and reporting channels. The Board had examined the risk
management and internal control systems including finance,
operation and control and reviewed the evaluation performed by
the Audit Committee, the management and internal and external
auditors, on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and considered them effective and
adequate. No significant areas of concerns were identified.
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The Board also reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions and
their training programs and budget and considered that they are
adequate.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Group’s independent external auditors are Ernst & Young.
The Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of the
external auditors and reviewing the non-audit functions performed
by the external auditors for the Group. In particular, the Audit
Committee will, prior to the execution of contract with external
auditor and the commencement of their duties, consider whether
the non-audit functions will result in any potential material conflict
of interest.

Details of fees paid or payable to Ernst & Young for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Services rendered
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Annual audit FEE 4,700
Interim review FHER B 850
Other audit services H BT R 3,645
Non-audit service IEFET R
Review on continuing connected transactions EHRERERS 70
Other professional services* Hih B ERBE 7,790
17,055
* Other professional services mainly include agreed-upon procedures — * HEMEERFEIEREITEFRE  BHEEM
services, financial and tax due diligence, comfort letter on circulars BEAR - B KRR R R AE BN AR
and IT consultation service, etc. & o
In addition to the above fees paid or payable to the auditors, Bk _Eili B sk EMZEEEE BN - AN B

Yashili, a subsidiary of the Group listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, has an amount of RMB2,923,000 (2019:
RMB2,944,000) paid/payable as auditors’ remuneration during the
year.

The Board is satisfied with the audit fees, process and
effectiveness of Ernst & Young and has recommended their
reappointment as the Company’s external auditors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
The Company has established a Strategy and Development
Committee. As at 31 December 2020, the Strategy and
Development Committee comprised one executive Director, Mr. Lu
Minfang, four non-executive Directors, Mr. Chen Lang, Mr. Niu
Gensheng, Mr. Tim Qrting Jergensen and Mr. Pascal De Petrini.
The Strategy and Development Committee was chaired by Mr.
Chen Lang during 2020.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include drawing up long-term development strategies and
significant investments or financing plans of the Company,
proposing significant capital investment for operation projects, and
conducting studies and making recommendations on important
matters that would affect the development of the Company.

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Sustainability Committee. As at
31 December 2020, the Sustainability Committee comprised one
executive Director, Mr. Lu Minfang, two non-executive Directors,
Mr. Tim @rting Jorgensen and Mr. Pascal De Petrini, and one
independent non-executive Director, Mr. Yau Ka Chi. The
Sustainability Committee was chaired by Mr. Tim Orting
Jorgensen during 2020.

The principal duties of the Sustainability Committee include
overseeing sustainability, environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues and risks, identifying ESG matters that are relevant
and material to the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries, assisting the Board in preparing and reviewing the
annual ESG Report.

The Sustainability Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2020 to discuss about the 2019
Sustainability Report and target and action roadmap for ESG
index of major capital markets in 2022.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communication among Board members, with
Shareholders and management. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Company Secretary has confirmed that he
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
trainings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted, in terms no less exacting than, the
standards required by the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of
conduct and rules governing dealings by all Directors in the
securities of the Company. The Directors have confirmed,
following the specific enquiry by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy to set out the

principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in
relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Shareholders.

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
The Board has the discretion to propose, declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the articles of
association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

° financial results;

° cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

° capital requirements and expenditure plans;

° interests of Shareholders;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

° any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and
development. When the Company announces its interim and
annual results, briefings are conducted to apprise investors,
analysts and the press of the Group’s operating results as well as
business strategies and outlook. Investor relations website is
updated on a timely basis to ensure that investors are able to
have access to the Company’s information, latest news and
reports.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including election of Directors. Poll
voting has been adopted for decision-making at shareholders’
meeting. Details of poll voting procedures were included in the
circular dispatched to the Shareholders. The circular also included
relevant details of proposed resolutions and biographies of the
Directors standing for election.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

According to the articles of association of the Company, any two
or more Shareholders or any one Shareholder which is a
recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) holding as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by
written requisition, to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
depositing the written requisition at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong at 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary, specifying the objects of the meeting, the
name(s) and contact details of the requisitionist(s) and signed by
the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

For enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may contact the
Company Secretary at the Hong Kong office of the Company at
32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong or by email to info@mengniuir.com. The
Company will endeavor to respond to their queries in a timely
manner. Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Directors
at the general meetings of the Company.

In addition, the Shareholders can contact Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

A Shareholder may, during the period commencing no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of any general meeting
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting, give a notice in writing to the Nomination
Committee of the Company of his/her intention to propose any
person (other than himself/herself) for election to the office of a
Director and a notice in writing signed by the person to be
proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. Such notices shall
be sent to 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary, specifying the name and contact details of the
shareholder putting forward the proposal for election of Director
and the name and contact details of the person proposed to be
elected.

Other than the above concerning a proposal of a person for
election as a Director, Shareholders may follow the procedures
set out above to convene an extraordinary general meeting for
any business specified in such written requisition.
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The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020. The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 is set out in the sections headed
“CEQ’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report. The
discussions therein form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and distribution
of quality dairy products including liquid milk, ice cream, milk
formula and cheese in China. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year
under review.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

The Group’s revenue is derived principally from business activities
in China. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year
ended 31 December 2020 by business segments is set out in
note 4 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group including a fair review of the
Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year, an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, key performance indicators, environmental
policies and performance, and the Group’s key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s
success depends is set out in the sections of this annual report
headed “CEQO’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and in the notes to the financial statements.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations are mainly
regulated by Hong Kong, Australian and PRC laws. During the
year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the Board was not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
page 129.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.268 (2019: RMBO0.181) per share, amounting to
approximately RMB1,058,093,000 (2019: RMB712,238,000) in
total, to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members on Tuesday, 8 June 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 134 to 135 and note
50 to the financial statements. The Company’s distributable
reserves, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to
approximately RMB9,439,263,000 as at 31 December 2020
(2019: RMB10,769,101,000).
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DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to approximately RMB480,367,000 (2019:
RMB20,286,000).

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
During the year, the Company issued 13,093,429 ordinary shares
(2019: 7,307,084 ordinary shares), fully paid, for a total
consideration of RMB257 million (2019: RMB124 million) as a
result of the exercise of share options under the share option
scheme of the Company.

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 38 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020 were:

Executive Directors
Lu Minfang
Meng Fanjie

Non-executive Directors
Chen Lang

Niu Gensheng

Tim Qrting Jergensen
Pascal De Petrini

Independent Non-executive Directors
Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen)

Julian Juul Wolhardt

Zhang Xiaoya

Yau Ka Chi

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to the date
of this report, Mr. Tim Orting Jergensen resigned as a non-
executive director of the Company, due to his commitment to
other personal development, and Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens was
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company, both with
effect from 1 January 2021.
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In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Pascal De Petrini and Mr. Yau
Ka Chi will retire by rotation and Mr. Simon Dominic Stevens will
also retire in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 68 to 78.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties
and responsibilities in the Group and the prevailing market rate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether
civil or criminal. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate insurance in respect of potential legal actions against
the Directors and its officers.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS, LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company or any of the
Associated Corporations (including options granted under the
Company’s share option scheme):

Nature of Interest

ERME

Name of Director

EEpS

Personal Interest

EAES

Lu Minfang
& BUK
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Notes:

(1) It represents 655,111 shares granted to Mr. Lu Minfang in which
369,628 shares remain unvested under the restricted share award
scheme of the Company and 10,867,409 underlying shares in
respect of the share options granted under the Company’s share
option scheme.

2) The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage
of the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e.
3,948,108,517 shares) as at 31 December 2020.

L Indicates a long position.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and restricted
share award scheme are set out in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”, respectively below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of the Associated
Corporations as recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’
Interests, Long and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and “Share Option Scheme” and “Share
Award Scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate granted
to any Director, or his or her respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in the Company or any other body
corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders of the Company, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company whose interests and short
positions in the shares of the Company and of the Associated
Corporations are set out above, in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be

maintained under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name of Substantial Shareholder

COFCO Corporation
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited

TERRBEEB

FREEERAF
FREE(FE)BRATF

Percentage of
the Company’s
Issued
Share Capital®
HAAR B RAT
L NER A

Number of
Ordinary Shares
ERRHA

1,233,700,758 ()" 31.25%
1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.25%

(5
(L)

China Foods (Holdings) Limited FRERMER)BRAA 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.25%
Farwill Limited TEBRADA 1,233,700,758 (L)@® 31.25%
Colour Spring Limited FRBBRAT 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.25%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited HRIAEZERER AR 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.25%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited HRIEREFERAA 1,233,700,758 (L)@® 31.25%
Prominent Achiever Limited BEBRAA 1,233,700,758 (L)@® 31.25%
Arla Foods amba Arla Foods amba 1,233,700,758 (L)@ 31.25%
Danone SA Danone SA 1,233,700,758 (L)® 31.25%
Danone Asia Pte Ltd Danone Asia Pte Ltd 1,2833,700,758 (L)@ 31.25%
FIL Limited FIL Limited 316,227,000 (L)" 8.01%
1,057,000 (S)" 0.03%

Pandanus Associates Inc. Pandanus Associates Inc. 316,227,000 (L)™ 8.01%
1,057,000 (S)” 0.03%

Pandanus Partners L.P. Pandanus Partners L.P. 316,227,000 (L)™ 8.01%
1,057,000 (S)™ 0.03%

Schroders Plc Schroders Plc 275,099,997 (L) 6.97%
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 237,931,177 (L) 6.03%
237,931,177 (P) 6.03%




@ China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited FES4 I 2GR QT

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEBWE

Notes:

COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of
1,283,700,758 shares in the Company through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited.

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, Colour Spring Limited,
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited,
Prominent Achiever Limited, Arla Foods amba, Danone Asia Pte Ltd
are deemed interested in an aggregate of 1,233,700,758 shares in
the Company under section 317 of the SFO.

China Foods (Holdings) Limited (previously known as COFCO (BVI)
No. 108 Limited) is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in
the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill Limited.

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is deemed interested in
1,238,700,758 shares in the Company through its subsidiary,
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited.

COFCO Dairy Investments Limited is deemed interested in
296,028,044 shares in the Company through its wholly-owned

subsidiary, Prominent Achiever Limited.

Danone SA is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the
Company through its subsidiary, Danone Asia Pte Ltd.

Based on the disclosure of interest filed by Pandanus Associates
Inc., FIL Limited is a controlled corporation of Pandanus Partners
L.P., which is in tumn a controlled corporation of Pandanus
Associates Inc.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020
was 3,948,108,517.

Indicates a long position.
Indicates a short position.

Indicates a lending pool.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no other
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company were recorded in the register maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 June 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2016 Share Option
Scheme”) in order to enable the Group to continue to offer
valuable incentive to attract and retain quality personnel to work
to increase the value of the shares of the Company. The 2016
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing from 3 June 2016 and will expire on 2
June 2026

B ESHE
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st &l ([ —F—NERRETE]) - JAKE
BEARLEBRIERERZERE  UERSIXHRER
FEYNAEE - BERARARMNEER  —F—X
FREEEAESE T R"FAAZAEEN A
BB TE BR-ZFZRENAZHRY -

RERRE ZF — /N F BRI B w0 B ARE
ZEHmT -

The movement of the share options granted under the 2016
Share Option Scheme during the year is as follows.

Number of share options

BREHR

Name or category of
participant
SRELZHEF

Executive Director

YTES

As at
1 January
2020

R=B-%%F

-A-8

Granted
during
the year

FRRH

As at

Exercised 31 December
during Lapsed during 2020
the year? the year R-B-%%
ERfEe ER&¥ TZA=t-H

Date of
grant of
share options

RHBRERS

Exercise period of
share options

(both dates inclusive)"
BRETENE
(BfFERAR)

Exercise
price of share
options

BRETER

BT

Lu Minfang 865,000 - - - 865,000 13.7.2017 13.7.2018 t0 12.7.2022 14,812
E&M “E-t4EtAT=A —Z-\5tA+t=RZ
ZECZFERTCA
690,199 - - - 690,199  7.5.2018 7.5.2019 to 6.5.2023 26.05
“E-\fRAtHE “E-NERALAEE
ZEC=FRARA
9,312,210 - - - 9312210 24.12.2018 1.4.2019 to 23.12.2023 23.93
“Z-\fTZAZfTHE ZZ-NEMA-AZ
CERCZEFCACTER
Employees in Aggregate 3,969,082 - (2,610,129) - 1,368,903  13.7.2017 13.7.2018 to 12.7.2022 14.812
BESH “E-t5tAT=A “E-\5tAt=RZE
ZRZZELRTZRH
6,693,995 - (4,048,616) (306,437) 2338942 752018 7.5.2019 t0 6.5.2023 26.05
- \5RAtHE “Z-NERALRE
—“EZ=FRARA
24,469,720 - (6,434,684) (3,710,043) 14,324,003  24.12.2018 1.4.2019 to 23.12.2023 23.93
“E-N\EFZA=tRA —E-NEMA-HZ
CECZETCACTEAR
- 1,016,887¢ - - 1,016,887  1.4.2020 1.4.2021 to 31.3.2025 26.54
ZECZENA-H ZE--4NA-RZE
“E-Rf=A=1-H
46,000,156 1,016,887 (13,093,429) (4,017,380) 29,906,234
Notes: B 5

(1) The exercise period of the share options granted commences after
a certain vesting period and the fulfiment of certain performance
targets, and ends on a date which is no later than five years from
the date of grant of such options. Further details of the share
option scheme are set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

(1) ZEBRENTEHHETRBHMENE TR
HARRFEBEN  BEERLZFBRERSEL
MAFZ AR - BRABRESINE— PR
BRI R M FESS
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() The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised
was HK$33.71.

3) The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before
the date of grant of the share options were HK$26.95 as of 31
March 2020.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model
are subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the
subjective nature of and uncertainty related to a number of
assumptions of the expected future performance input to the
model, and certain inherent limitations of the model itself. Details
of the valuation are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme (the
“Share Award Scheme”) to motivate the employees to maximize
the value of and share the results with the Company in order to
achieve sustainable development of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the number of shares
of the Company granted to selected participants was 8,199,897,
of which 253,063 shares were granted to the Directors, details of
which are as follows:

()  AREREGREEERETE R AT NEFEH
{8 B33.71 T °

(3) AREROEZZEERERLD BB AR TE
BT _TF=-A=+—HZ26.95%T °

BREEERA ZETERXFTE  BHAERX
IR ZEAREABREMGFENZER TS
FEE  UREXNASETAERS - SUtsE
FEZE R LEARS o HEFBRNIIERE
Bf5E38 °

BREEEREEZE T IBERRTAEHME
P {56 PR 22 %(E’Jffﬂmibi/\%ﬂﬁﬁﬂiéﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁ
PR E AL

e g

PR 514 AR SR 52 D5t )

AR RIR A — BRI IR S B ([R5
B MHBERARARMEESERE 81
ADFRERR HDAEEBEER -

HE-_Z-_FTF+-_A=Z+—HIEFE KT
RS2 HEENRNNRKREHAE £8,199,807 K + H
253,063 WM IEFES  FIBESNAT ¢

As at As at
1 January Granted Vested Forfeited 31 December
2020 during during during
Name of Director R-ZE-ZHF the year the year the year
EENR —HA—H FAFH FREE FRKRXK
Lu Minfang 277,201 253,063 160,636 — 369,628
BB
Further details of the Share Award Scheme are also set out in IRZ @2 E — SIS MR T B REM T

Note 39 to the financial statements.

39 °



Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company or
their respective associates to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive during the year ended 31 December 2020, held any
interest in, or were granted any right to subscribe for, the
securities of the Company and its associated corporations within
the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

(i)

The 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
with COFCO Corporation

On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a new
master sale and purchase agreement (the “2014 Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with COFCO Corporation
(*COFCQ”) to renew the existing Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement pursuant to which the Group will continue to,
subject to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s
option, purchase white sugar, edible oil, other raw materials
and related products (including packaging materials) from
COFCQ, its subsidiaries and certain associated companies
(collectively “COFCO Corporation Group Companies”) for a
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2015 and
ending on 31 December 2017, which may be extended at
the Company’s option, for a further period of not more than
three continuous years, subject to compliance with any
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules. In view of the
anticipated expiration of the term of the 2014 Master Sale
and Purchase Agreement on 31 December 2017, the
Company has delivered an extension notice (the “Extension
Notice”) to COFCO to exercise its right to extend the term
of the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement for a
further three years. The Company received a confirmation
from COFCO on 27 December 2017 acknowledging receipt
of the Extension Notice. Following the extension of the term
of the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
Group will continue to purchase (subject to the Group’s
regular review and at the Group’s option) white sugar,
edible oil, other raw materials and related products
(including packaging materials) from COFCO Corporation
Group Companies for a term commencing from 1 January
2018 and ending on 31 December 2020. The annual
transaction amount under the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement for each of the three years ended 31
December 2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively is expected
not to exceed RMB1,500,000,000.
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As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the
Company, is a connected person of the Company, the
transactions under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the Extension Notice) constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Group.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
transaction value under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the Extension Notice) are on an
annual basis more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
continuing connected transactions under the 2014 Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement (as extended by the
Extension Notice) are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to COFCO Corporation Group
Companies for the purchase of white sugar, edible oil, other
raw materials and related products (including packaging
materials) was approximately RMB561,829,000, and the
pricing policies set out in the announcements have been
followed when determining the price and terms of the
transactions conducted during the year.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“CMD”) has purchased
feedstuffs and other related materials from COFCO
Corporation Group Companies in the past and will continue
to purchase feedstuffs and other related materials from
COFCO Corporation Group Companies (the “CMD
Transactions”) commencing from 1 January 2018. The
annual transaction amount under the CMD Transactions for
each of the three years ended 31 December 2018, 2019
and 2020 was expected not to exceed RMB500,000,000,
RMB500,000,000 and RMB600,000,000 (as revised on 17
December 2020) respectively. The aggregated annual
transaction amount () under the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement (as extended by the Extension Notice)
and (i) of the CMD Transactions for each of the three years
ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively is
expected not to exceed RMB2,000,000,000. The applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the aggregated transaction
value (i) under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the Extension Notice) and (i) of
the CMD Transactions for each of the three years ended 31
December 2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively is on an
annual basis more than 0.1% but less than 5%.

HRPREE(EARRRZEIERR) A
ARABZBEAL MREBE-_T-—MOFE
BHBE (BERBALR) R SHHERA
SENKERERS -

MR - —MEAREHEDZ (KTERBAT
RIRGEEZERES L RRFEREES
ROI%ERNE% » M —F—F BRI
#RERBNCER) ZFHEREXHAE
S EMRUE AT EERR AERFE
EHMRTE  HERBRRETEBEBELRR
BLERIRE

HE-_Z-_ZTHF+-_A=+—RIL=FE -
AEBRBAAYE RFAH - ERAR
HHEERBEEEMREN ENTIE
SEAFCRBREELHAARYS61,829,000
T BEREBETFRNMETR S 2 ERRIE
HECEBRAENMEATEERE -
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BEMFIEEEQRRERN R EMERH
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MPEEEQRIREBANREME B
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#HBid A R¥2,000,000,0007T - & & - F
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—t—ALE=EFESF BEN=-F I
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For further details about the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement, the extension of its term and revision
of annual cap, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 31 December 2014, 28 December 2017
and 17 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total amount
paid/payable by CMD to COFCO Corporation Group
Companies for the CMD Transactions which constitute
continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules was approximately
RMB540,359,000, and the pricing policies set out in the
announcements have been followed when determining the
price and terms of the transactions conducted during the
year.

In view of the anticipated expiration of the extended term of
the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement on 31
December 2020, the Company has delivered an extension
notice (the “2020 Extension Notice”) to COFCO to exercise
its right to extend the term of the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement for a further three years. The
Company received a confirmation from COFCO on 22
December 2020 acknowledging receipt of the 2020
Extension Notice. Following the extension of the term of the
2014 Master Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Group will
continue to purchase (subject to the Group’s regular review
and at the Group’s option) white sugar, edible oil, other raw
materials and related products from COFCO Corporation
Group Companies for a term commencing from 1 January
2021 and ending on 31 December 2023. The annual
transaction amount under the 2014 Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement (including the CMD Transactions) for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2021, 2022
and 2023 is not expected to exceed RMB2,200,000,000.

As COFCO, being a substantial shareholder of the
Company, is a connected person of the Company, the
transactions under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2020 Extension Notice)
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Group.
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(ii)

w5

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
transaction value under the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2020 Extension Notice) are
on an annual basis more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
continuing connected transactions under the 2014 Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement (as extended by the 2020
Extension Notice) are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For
further details of the 2014 Master Sale and Purchase
Agreement (as extended by the 2020 Extension Notice),
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
22 December 2020.

Strategic Collaboration Agreement with COFCO
Trust Company Limited

On 23 December 2020, the Company entered into the
Strategic Collaboration Agreement with COFCO Trust
Company Limited for a term of three years. Pursuant to the
Strategic Collaboration Agreement, the Group will purchase
(subject to the Group’s regular review and at the Group’s
option) various financial services and products from COFCO
Trust Company Limited, for a term commencing from
23 December 2020 and ending on 22 December 2023.

The price payable by the Group Company to COFCO Trust
Company Limited shall be fair and reasonable, and shall be
fixed by reference to and by no means higher than the
reasonable market price at which the Group could obtain
the same type of supplies from independent third parties.
The terms of the Strategic Collaboration Agreement were
determined after arm’s length negotiations and the Directors
are of the view that they are on normal commercial terms.
Pursuant to the Strategic Collaboration Agreement, the
terms and conditions of the supply of various financial
services and products by COFCO Trust Company Limited to
the Group shall not be less favourable than those available
to the Group from independent third parties.

(ii)
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The aggregated transaction amount under the Strategic
Collaboration Agreement during any 12 months within its
terms is not expected to exceed RMB1,000,000,000
(“Annual Cap”). The above Annual Cap is determined by
reference to (i) the Group’s overall treasury policies and
cash resources management and investment plan; (i)
historical value of transactions between the Group and
other third parties in relation to similar product or services
types; and (iii) any comparable market prices of the relevant
products or services.

COFCO Trust Company Limited is a subsidiary of COFCO
Corporation. As COFCO Corporation indirectly holds an
approximately 31.25% interest in the Company, COFCO
Corporation is a substantial shareholder of the Company
and thus a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules. As a subsidiary of COFCO
Corporation, COFCO Trust Company Limited is an associate
of a connected person of the Company, and thus also a
connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of
the Listing Rules. The transactions under the Strategic
Collaboration Agreement therefore constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Annual
Cap for the transactions under the Strategic Collaboration
Agreement are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
continuing connected transactions under the Strategic
Collaboration Agreement are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For
further details about the Strategic Collaboration Agreement,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
23 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to COFCO Trust Company
Limited for the transactions under the Strategic
Collaboration Agreement was approximately
RMB700,000,000, and the pricing policies set out in the
announcement have been followed when determining the
price and terms of the transactions conducted during the
year.
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The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out
above and have confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial
terms or better; and (i) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
and the CMD Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note
740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &
Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as set out on pages 109 to
110 and the share award scheme as set out on page 110 to
page 111, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases attributable to the five largest
suppliers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
purchases of the Group.

The percentage of revenue attributable to the five largest
customers of the Group combined was less than 30% of the total
revenue of the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has pledged certain
investment deposits, pledged deposits, land use rights, property,
plant and equipment and dairy cows aggregating to approximately
RMB2,937,555,000 (2019: RMB2,491,594,000).

Details are set out in the respective notes to the financial
statements.
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COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments are set out in note 44 to the financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and for the
previous four financial periods are set out on pages 343 to 344.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 79 to
100.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021
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(resigned on 1 January 2021)

Mr. Pascal DE PETRINI

Mr. Simon Dominic STEVENS
(appointed on 1 January 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. JIAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen) (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya

Mr. YAU Ka Chi

Senior Management

Mr. ZHANG Ping

Mr. GAO Fei

Mr. WEN Yongping

Mr. LUO Yan

Mr. ZHANG Zhaoxu

Ms. DAl Lu

Mr. YANG Zhigang

Mr. LI Pengcheng

Mr. Stephen MAHER

Mr. KWOK Wai Cheong, Chris (Qualified Accountant &
Company Secretary)

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange 2319

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Ms. Willow WU

32nd Floor, COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

Email: ir@mengniu.cn

Website: www.mengniuir.com
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PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
32nd Floor, COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A

Block 3, Building D

P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Center

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Law
Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP

As to Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder Asia

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China

BNP Paribas

DBS Bank

Industrial Commercial Bank of China
Rabobank

Standard Chartered Bank

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Strategic Financial Relations (China) Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 129 to 342, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter
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BARETSEEw

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B ARESSERNEES X

Impairment testing of gooadwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives

BB R AR R (& 5 F B B 1% 49 )8 (8 8] &

Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives
amounted to RMB12,078,729,000, representing 15% of
the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2020. The
impairment tests performed by management with the
assistance from an external valuer regarding various
groups of cash-generating units (“CGU groups”)
involved significant estimates for the determination of
the recoverable amounts of the CGU groups. This is a
key audit matter due to the magnitude, the complexity,
and the management’s estimates involved in the
impairment testing.

—E-ZEFE+-_A=+—H BENERERFHEEZ
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The accounting policies and related disclosures are
included in note 2.4 “Business combinations and
goodwill” and “Intangible assets (other than goodwill)”,
note 3 “Impairment of goodwill and trademarks with
indefinite useful lives” and note 20 “Impairment testing
of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives”,
to the financial statements.
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We assessed the objectivity, independence and
competence of the external valuer who assisted
management to perform the impairment testing of goodwill
and trademarks with indefinite lives of the Yashili CGU
group and Bellamy CGU group. We also assessed the
2021 budget and the five-year financial projection for the
following 5 years used to determine the recoverable
amounts of various CGU groups, by comparing key
assumptions with historical or external data, and a
reconciliation of the inputs. Furthermore, we involved
internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the
model and the inputs used including the weighted average
costs of capital and expected perpetual rates. We also
assessed the adequacy of the disclosures concerning
those key assumptions included in note 20 “Impairment
testing of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful
lives” to the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ETHERENSARNEES X

Impairment testing of an investment in a material associate

REAXBZ 2 A 491 & 495 (8 75

The Group’s investment in China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (“China Modern Dairy”), a material
associate of the Group, amounted to

RMB6,575,281,000, representing 8% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2020. The impairment
test of the investment in China Modern Dairy performed
by management with the assistance from an external
valuer involved significant estimates for the
determination of the value in use of China Modern
Dairy. This is a key audit matter due to the magnitude
and the complexity of the estimates, and the
uncertainty on future market circumstances.
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The accounting policies and related disclosures are
included in note 2.4 “Investments in associates and
joint ventures”, note 2.4 “Impairment of non-financial
assets”, note 3 “Impairment of non-financial assets
(other than goodwill and trademarks with indefinite
useful lives)” and note 22 “Investments in associates”
to the financial statements.
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We assessed the objectivity, independence and
competence of the external valuer. We also assessed the
2021 budget and the five-year financial projection of China
Modern Dairy and a reconciliation of the inputs used to
evaluate the value in use calculations. Furthermore, we
involved internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the models and the inputs used, including the
weighted average costs of capital and the expected
perpetual rates. We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures concerning those key assumptions included in
note 22 “Investments in associates” to the consolidated
financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high l